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INVESTORS’ LETTER 
 
Dear Valued Investor, 
 
Greetings from Principal Asset Management Berhad (“Principal Malaysia”) and thank you for investing 
with us! 
 
We are pleased to bring you a copy of the Unaudited Semi-Annual Fund Report of the Principal US 
High Conviction Equity Fund for the six months financial period ended 31 March 2024. You may also 
download this report from our website at www.principal.com.my.  
 
We are happy to share that Principal Malaysia won two honours at the Asia Asset Management 2024 
Best of the Best Awards. The awards were for Best of the Best Performance Awards: China A-Share 
Equity (3 years) for the Principal China Direct Opportunities Fund (Class MYR) and Best of the Best 
Country Awards: Best Institutional House – Malaysia. We also won another two awards at the 2024 
Global Banking & Finance Awards® for Asset Management CEO of the Year Malaysia 2024 - Munirah 
Khairuddin and Asset Management Company of the Year Malaysia 2024. The World Business Oulook 
magazine also awarded us with the Best Investment Management and Solutions Provider Malaysia 
2024, Best Institutional House Malaysia 2024, and Asset Management CEO (Munirah Khairuddin) of 
the Year Malaysia 2024 awards at its 2024 Annual Awards. We also won three awards at iFast Awards 
2024 and another 7 awards at the LSEG Lipper Fund Awards 2024.   
 
Digital innovation is central to our strategy, as we use data and technology to develop the right solutions 
for you. We will continue to advance our digital capabilities to provide easy access to your investment 
portfolio and enable you to carry out transactions seamlessly. Please continue to check out our website 
(www.principal.com.my), like our Facebook page (@PrincipalAssetMY), follow us on our Instagram 
account (@principalassetmanagement_my), and LinkedIn page (Principal Asset Management Berhad) 
for the latest updates, market insights and investment articles. 
 
We appreciate your continuous support and the trust you place in us. 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
for Principal Asset Management Berhad 
 
 
Munirah Khairuddin 
Country Head and Chief Executive Officer, Malaysia 
Non-Independent Executive Director 
 
 
  

http://www.principal.com.my/
http://www.principal.com.my/
http://www.principal.com.my/
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MANAGER’S REPORT  
 
FUND OBJECTIVE AND POLICY 
 
What is the investment objective of the Fund? 
The Fund aims to achieve capital appreciation over the medium to long term through investments in 
United States of America equities.  
 
Has the Fund achieved its objective? 
The Fund is in line to achieve its medium to long-term objective to achieve capital appreciation as 
stated in the investment objective section. 
 
What are the Fund investment policy and principal investment strategy? 
The Fund seeks to achieve its objective by investing in United States of America (“USA”) equities and 
other equity related securities by focusing its investment primarily in companies with market 
capitalization of not more than USD 30 billion and a part of the Fund’s NAV in companies with market 
capitalization of more than USD 30 billion. The investment universe includes listed securities as well 
as initial public offerings. The Fund is expected to have a growth bias overall, including both growth 
and value-oriented companies over time. The Fund may also opt to seek investment exposure via 
collective investment scheme (“CIS”) that is in line with the Fund’s objective, subject to the requirements 
of the Securities Commission (“SC”) Guidelines. The Fund will also invest in liquid assets such as 
money market instruments and/or Deposits for liquidity purpose. 
 

The asset allocation for the Fund is as follows: 
▪ Minimum 70% of the Fund’s net asset value (“NAV”) will be invested into equities and other equity 

related securities; and 
▪ The balance of the Fund’s NAV will be invested in money market instruments and/ or Deposits.  

 
Base Currency 
United States Dollar (“USD”) 
 
Fund category/type 
Equity/Growth  
 
When was the Fund launched? 

Name of Class  Launch Date  

Class MYR (“MYR”) 12 January 2022 

Class MYR-Hedged (“MYR-H”) 12 January 2022 

Class SGD (“SGD”) 12 January 2022 

Class USD 12 January 2022 

 
What was the size of the Fund as at 31 March 2024? 
USD4.91 million (20.95 million units) 
 
What is the Fund’s benchmark? 
Morgan Stanley Capital International (“MSCI”) U.S Small Cap Index 
 
Note: The benchmark is for performance comparison purpose only. You are cautioned that the risk profile of the Fund is 
different from the benchmark. Information on the benchmark can be obtained from https://www.msci.com/indexes. 

 
What is the Fund distribution policy?    
Given the Fund's objective, the class(es) of the Fund is not expected to pay any distribution. 
Distributions, if any, are at the Manager’s discretion and will vary from period to period depending on 
the performance of the Fund. 
 
What was the net income distribution for the six months financial period ended 31 March 2024? 
There was no distribution made for the six months financial period ended 31 March 2024. 
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PERFORMANCE DATA 
 
Details of portfolio composition of the Fund for the two unaudited financial periods were as follows: 
 

   31.03.2024  31.03.2023 

   %  % 

Collective investment schemes   89.61  88.15 

Cash and other assets   12.38  12.91 

Liabilities   (1.99)  (1.06) 

   100.00  100.00 

 
Performance details of the Fund for the two unaudited financial periods were as follows: 
 

   31.03.2024  31.03.2023 

NAV (USD Million)      

   -  Class MYR   1.57  0.68 

   -  Class MYR-H   3.14  0.47 

   -  Class SGD   0.20  0.00* 

   -  Class USD   0.00*  0.00* 

Units in circulation (Million)      

   -  Class MYR   6.18  3.04 

   -  Class MYR-H   14.52  2.27 

   -  Class SGD   0.25  0.00* 

   -  Class USD   0.00*  0.00* 

NAV per unit (USD)      

   -  Class MYR    0.2541   0.2227 

   -  Class MYR-H    0.2162   0.2096 

   -  Class SGD    0.7854   0.6880 

   -  Class USD    1.0638   0.9320 
 
Note 0.00* denotes allocation less than USD0.01 million. 

 

   
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

Highest NAV per unit (USD)      

   -  Class MYR    0.2541    0.2431  

   -  Class MYR-H    0.2162    0.2379  

   -  Class SGD    0.7855    0.7514  

   -  Class USD    1.0639    1.0172  

Lowest NAV per unit (USD)      

   -  Class MYR             0.2024    0.2047  

   -  Class MYR-H             0.1731    0.1830  

   -  Class SGD             0.6258    0.6325  

   -  Class USD             0.8473    0.8566  

Total return (%)      

   -  Class MYR    17.61   3.56 

   -  Class MYR-H    14.60   8.20 

   -  Class SGD    15.82   1.09 

   -  Class USD    16.93   8.79 
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PERFORMANCE DATA (CONTINUED) 
 
Performance details of the Fund for the two unaudited financial periods were as follows (continued): 
 

   
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

Capital growth (%)      

   -  Class MYR    17.61   3.56 

   -  Class MYR-H    14.60   8.20 

   -  Class SGD    15.82   1.09 

   -  Class USD    16.93   8.79 

Income distribution (%)      

   -  Class MYR   -  - 

   -  Class MYR-H   -  - 

   -  Class SGD   -  - 

   -  Class USD   -  - 

      

Total Expense Ratio (“TER”) (%) ^   1.02  1.17 

Portfolio Turnover Ratio (“PTR”) (times) #   0.17  0.32 
 
^ The Fund’s TER decreased from 1.17% to 1.02% due to decreased in total expenses during the 

financial period under review.  
 
# The Fund’s PTR decreased from 0.32 times to 0.17 times during the financial period under review, 

due to lesser trading activities. As a feeder fund, the turnover reflects investment and withdrawals in 
the target fund. 

 

   31.03.2024 31.03.2023 

Since 
inception 

to 31.03.2022 

   % % % 

Annual total return      

   -  Class MYR    22.09  (5.13) 3.59 

   -  Class MYR-H    10.39  (10.49) 3.34 

   -  Class SGD    15.79  (11.18) 3.06 

   -  Class USD    14.15  (9.66) 3.15 

      

(Launch date: 12 January 2022) 
 
Past performance is not necessarily indicative of future performance and that unit prices and investment returns may go down, 
as well as up. All performance figures for the financial period have been extracted from Lipper. 

 
MARKET REVIEW (1 OCTOBER 2023 TO 31 MARCH 2024) 
 
Global economies showed signs of weakening with 10-year treasury yields ticking higher for a start on 
fourth quarter of 2024 to the 5% handle, with oil prices remain elevated, while the equity markets 
continue to pull back, mark the third straight month of losses. Equity market ended the year sharply 
higher, and what was once widely expected recession in 2023 was seemingly avoided, coupled with 
softening in global inflation data and employment numbers.  The year of 2024 kick off with profit-taking 
from a strong finish in 2023 and escalating conflicts in the Middle East, followed by a mixed returns and 
reversion back to a narrow market leadership as small-cap companies lagged their large-cap peers. 
Equity markets continued to strengthen for the most of first quarter of 2024, with improved breadth as 
the prospect of a soft-landing continued to take hold amid resilient corporate profitability. Small-cap 
companies kept pace with their large-cap peers as markets are seemingly getting comfortable with the 
growth conditions.  
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FUND PERFORMANCE 

 
For the financial period under review, all four classes return positively Class MYR, Class MYR-H, Class 
SGD, and Class USD increased by 17.61%, 14.60%, 15.82%, and 16.93% respectively. The fund 
underperformed their respective benchmark during the same financial period.  
 
Since Inception 
 
Class MYR 
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6 months to 

31.03.2024 
1 year to 

31.03.2024 

Since 
inception to 

31.03.2024 
 % % % 

Income Distribution    
   -  Class MYR - - - 
   -  Class MYR-H - - - 
   -  Class SGD - - - 
   -  Class USD - - - 

Capital Growth    
   -  Class MYR  17.61   22.09   19.99  
   -  Class MYR-H  14.60   10.39   2.11  
   -  Class SGD  15.82   15.79   5.99  
   -  Class USD  16.93   14.15   6.38  

Total Return    
   -  Class MYR  17.61   22.09   19.99  
   -  Class MYR-H  14.60   10.39   2.11  
   -  Class SGD  15.82   15.79   5.99  
   -  Class USD  16.93   14.15   6.38  

Benchmark    
   -  Class MYR 21.29 29.21 19.49 
   -  Class MYR-H 20.33 20.46 5.68 
   -  Class SGD 18.98 22.28 5.86 
   -  Class USD 20.33 20.46 5.68 

Average Total Return    
   -  Class MYR  38.21   22.09   8.57  
   -  Class MYR-H  31.24   10.39   0.95  
   -  Class SGD  34.04   15.79   2.66  
   -  Class USD  36.60   14.15   2.83  
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FUND PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED 
 
Since Inception 
 
Class MYR-H 
 

 
 
Class SGD 
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FUND PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Class USD 
 

 
 
Changes in NAV 
 
CLASS MYR 
 

 
31.03.2024 

  
30.09.2023 

Audited  
Changes 

% 

      

NAV (USD Million) 1.57                 0.67   >100.00 

NAV/Unit (USD) 0.2541             0.2174   16.88 
 
CLASS MYR-H 
 

NAV (USD Million) 3.14                 2.13   47.42 

NAV/Unit (USD) 0.2162             0.1899   13.85 
 
CLASS SGD 
 

NAV (USD Million) 0.20                 0.04   >100.00 

NAV/Unit (USD) 0.7854             0.6720   16.88 
 
CLASS USD 
 

NAV (USD Million) 0.00*               0.00*   - 

NAV/Unit (USD) 1.0638             0.9100   16.90 
 
Note 0.00* denotes allocation less than USD0.01 million. 

 
For the financial period under review, the Fund’s NAV for Class MYR-H and Class SGD increased by 
over 100%, while Class MYR-H increased by 47.42%. Meanwhile, Class USD returned flat.  
 
In addition, the Fund’s NAV per unit for class MYR, Class MYR-H, Class SGD, and Class USD 
increased by 16.88%, 13.85%, 16.88%, and 16.90% respectively during the same financial period.  
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FUND PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in NAV (continued) 
 
Performance data represents the combined income and capital return as a result of holding units in the Fund for the specified 
length of time, based on NAV to NAV price. The performance data assumes that all earnings from the Fund are reinvested 
and are net of management and trustee fees. Past performance is not reflective of future performance and income distributions 
are not guaranteed. Unit prices and income distributions, if any, may fall and rise. All performance figures for the financial 
period have been extracted from Lipper. 

 
PORTFOLIO STRUCTURE 
 
Asset allocation 
 

 (% of NAV) 
31.03.2024 

 
30.09.2023 

Audited 

Collective investment schemes 89.61 89.99 

Cash and other assets 12.38 12.58 

Liabilities (1.99) (2.57) 

Total 100.00 100.00 

 
The fund was fully invested during the financial period under review. A minimal level of liquid assets 
was maintained primarily for redemption purposes. 
 
MARKET OUTLOOK* 
 
The strength of the broader economy is feeding into investor optimism and in turn, the breadth in equity 
returns is beginning to broaden. Question remained whether there will be a recession, “soft-landing”, 
or reacceleration of economic growth. The best way to prepare is to focus on identifying companies 
that benefit from positive and durable change. Companies that are able to adapt to the alternative 
scenarios and provide enduring solutions and services will be key differentiator in performance 
throughout the market cycle.  
 
* This market outlook does not constitute an offer, invitation, commitment, advice or recommendation to make a purchase of 
any investment. The information given in this article represents the views of Principal Asset Management Berhad (“Principal 
Malaysia”) are based on data obtained from sources believed to be reliable by Principal Malaysia. Whilst every care has been 
taken in preparing this, Principal Malaysia makes no guarantee, representation or warranty and is under no circumstances 
liable for any loss or damage caused by reliance on, any opinion, advice or statement made in this market outlook. 

 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 
The Fund will continue to remain fully invested in USA equities with minimal cash kept for liquidity 
purposes.  
 
SOFT COMMISSIONS AND REBATES 
 
Principal Malaysia (the “Manager”) and the Trustee will not retain any form of rebate from, or otherwise 
share in any commission with, any broker or dealer in consideration for directing dealings in the 
investments of the Principal Malaysia Funds (“Funds”). Accordingly, any rebate or shared commission 
will be directed to the account of the Fund. We may retain goods and services (soft commission) 
provided by any broker or dealer if the following conditions are met:  
 
(a) the soft commission brings direct benefit or advantage to the management of the Fund and may 

include research and advisory related services; 
(b) any dealings with the broker or dealer is executed on terms which are the most favourable for the 

Fund; and  
(c) the availability of soft commission is not the sole or primary purpose to perform or arrange 

transactions with such broker or dealer, and we and the fund the manager will not enter into 
unnecessary trades in order to achieve a sufficient volume of transactions to qualify for soft 
commission. 
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SOFT COMMISSIONS AND REBATES (CONTINUED) 
 
During the financial period under review, the Manager and Trustee did not receive any rebates from 
the brokers or dealers but the Manager has retained soft commission in the form of goods and services 
for the benefit of the fund such as financial wire services and stock quotations system incidental to 
investment management of the Funds and there was no churning of trades. 
 
SECURITIES FINANCING TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Fund has not undertaken any securities lending or repurchase transactions during the financial 
period under review.  
 
STATE OF AFFAIR OF THE FUND 
 
In relation to this Fund, the Fund had issued the First Supplemental Master Prospectus dated 27 
October 2023. 
 
We are of view that the changes above do not affect the existing unit holder to stay invested in the 
Fund and it is not a significant change. Unit holders may refer to Appendix 1 for the detailed list of 
changes. 
 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Fund during the period and up to the 
date of Manager’s report, not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

CIRCUMSTANCES THAT MATERIALLY AFFECT ANY INTEREST OF UNIT HOLDERS 
 
There were no circumstances that had materially affected the interest of the unit holders during the 
financial period under review. 
 
CROSS TRADE 
 
No cross-trade transactions have been carried out during the financial period under review.  
 
UNIT SPLIT 
 
No unit split exercise has been carried out during the financial period under review.  



PRINCIPAL US HIGH CONVICTION EQUITY FUND 

 

1 
 

STATEMENT BY MANAGER TO THE UNIT HOLDERS OF 
PRINCIPAL US HIGH CONVICTION EQUITY FUND 
 
We, being the Directors of Principal Asset Management Berhad (the “Manager”), do hereby state that, 
in the opinion of the Manager, the accompanying unaudited financial statements set out on pages 3 to 
24 are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Deeds and give a true and fair view of the 
statement of financial position of the Fund as at 31 March 2024 and of its financial performance, 
changes in net assets attributable to unit holders and cash flows for the financial period then ended in 
accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) 134 - Interim Financial 
Reporting and International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34 - Interim Financial Reporting. 
 
 
For and on behalf of the Manager 
Principal Asset Management Berhad (Company No.: 199401018399 (304078-K)) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MUNIRAH KHAIRUDDIN                 UDAY JAYARAM 
Country Head and Chief Executive Officer, Malaysia  Executive Managing Director, 
Non-Independent Executive Director    Head of Southeast Asia 
              Non-Independent Executive Director 

 
Kuala Lumpur 
17 May 2024 
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TRUSTEE’S REPORT  
 
TO THE UNIT HOLDERS OF 
PRINCIPAL US HIGH CONVICTION EQUITY FUND (“Fund”) 
 
We have acted as Trustee of the Fund for the financial period ended 31 March 2024 and we hereby 
confirm to the best of our knowledge, after having made all reasonable enquiries, Principal Asset 
Management Berhad has operated and managed the Fund during the period covered by these financial 
statements in accordance with the following: 
 
1. Limitations imposed on the investment powers of the Management Company under the Deeds, 

securities laws and the Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds; 
 
2. Valuation and pricing is carried out in accordance with the Deeds; and  

 
3. Any creation and cancellation of units are carried out in accordance with the Deeds and any 

regulatory requirement. 
 
 
For HSBC (Malaysia) Trustee Berhad 
 
 
 
 
 
Yap Lay Guat 
Manager, Investment Compliance Monitoring 

 
Kuala Lumpur 
17 May 2024 
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UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 
 

  

01.10.2023 
to 31.03.2024  

01.10.2022 
to 31.03.2023 

 Note USD  USD 

INCOME/(LOSS)     
Dividend income  23,704   6,882  

Interest income  1,275   279  
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss 7 588,968   58,130  

Net (loss)/gain on derivatives at fair value through profit 
or loss 8 (66,320)   3,814  

Net loss on foreign exchange  (6,137)   (1,407) 

  541,490   67,698  

     

EXPENSES     

Management fee 4  32,736    8,307  

Trustee and custodian fees 5  818    277  

Transaction costs   225    330  

Audit fee   1,207   - 

Tax agent's fee   724   - 

Other expenses   1,172   2,214 

   36,882   11,128 

     

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  504,608  56,570 

     

Taxation 6 (13,057)  (987) 

     
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION, REPRESENTING TOTAL 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL 
PERIOD  491,551  55,583 

     

Profit after taxation is made up as follows:     

  Realised amount   (87,196)   (16,400) 

  Unrealised amount   578,747    71,983  

  491,551  55,583 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the unaudited financial 
statements. 
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UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 
 

  
31.03.2024 

  
30.09.2023 

Audited 

 Note USD  USD 

ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents 9  531,235   295,968 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7  4,397,791   2,541,925 

Amount due from dealers   32,375   38,661 

Amount due from the Manager   43,815   51,483 

Dividend receivable  -  5,254 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,005,216  2,933,291 

     

LIABILITIES     

Derivative liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 8 10,419  1,196 

Amount due to dealers   32,405   38,659 

Amount due to Manager   36,674   42,514 

Accrued management fee   7,230   4,208 

Amount due to Trustee   181   105 

Deferred tax liabilities  -  1,261 

Tax payable   6,565   1,468 

Other payables and accruals   4,151   3,805 

TOTAL LIABILITIES (EXCLUDING NET ASSETS 
  ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS)  97,625  93,216 

     

NET ASSET VALUE OF THE FUND  4,907,591  2,840,075 

     

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS  4,907,591  2,840,075 

     

REPRESENTED BY:     

     

FAIR VALUE OF OUTSTANDING UNITS     

   -  Class MYR   1,569,162   667,676 

   -  Class MYR-H   3,138,902   2,131,462 

   -  Class SGD   198,463   40,027 

   -  Class USD   1,064   910 

   4,907,591   2,840,075 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the unaudited financial 
statements. 
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UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 (CONTINUED) 
 

  
31.03.2024 

  
30.09.2023 

Audited 

 Note USD  USD 

NUMBER OF UNITS IN CIRCULATION (UNITS)     

   -  Class MYR   6,175,994   3,071,266 

   -  Class MYR-H   14,517,672   11,226,297 

   -  Class SGD   252,684   59,561 

   -  Class USD   1,000   1,000 

 10  20,947,350   14,358,124 

     

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT (USD)     

   -  Class MYR   0.2541   0.2174 

   -  Class MYR-H   0.2162   0.1899 

   -  Class SGD   0.7854   0.6720 

   -  Class USD   1.0638   0.9100 

     

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT IN RESPECTIVE  
  CURRENCIES     

   -  Class MYR   MYR1.2000   MYR1.0203 

   -  Class MYR-H   MYR1.0210   MYR0.8912 

   -  Class SGD   SGD1.0599   SGD0.9150 

   -  Class USD   USD1.0638   USD0.9100 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the unaudited financial 
statements. 
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UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS  
FOR THE SIX MONTHS FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 
 

  

01.10.2023 
to 31.03.2024  

01.10.2022 
to 31.03.2023 

  USD  USD 
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS 

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD  2,840,075  692,412 

     
Movement due to units created and cancelled during 

the financial period:     

Creation of units from applications     

   -  Class MYR  1,192,564  223,655 

   -  Class MYR-H  1,147,226  580,581 

   -  Class SGD-H  157,749  - 

  2,497,539  804,236 

     

Cancellation of units     

   -  Class MYR  (450,696)  (73,032) 

   -  Class MYR-H  (456,958)  (324,349) 

   -  Class SGD-H  (13,920)  - 

  (921,574)  (397,381) 

     

Total comprehensive income for the financial period  491,551  55,583 

      
NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNIT HOLDERS 

AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD  4,907,591  1,154,850 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the unaudited financial 
statements. 
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UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE SIX MONTHS FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 
 

  

01.10.2023 
to 31.03.2024  

01.10.2022 
to 31.03.2023 

 Note USD  USD 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds from disposal of quoted securities  -  131,824 

Purchase of quoted securities  (1,266,898)  (468,523) 

Dividend income received  28,958   6,882  

Interest received  1,275  249 

Management fee paid   (29,714)   (7,666) 

Trustee and custodian fees paid   (742)   (256) 

Tax paid   (9,221)   (1,017) 

Payments for other fees and expenses   (2,757)   (2,214) 

Net realised loss on forward foreign currency contracts   (57,064)   (1,160) 

Payment of other foreign exchange loss   (5,138)   (1,344) 

Net cash used in operating activities   (1,341,301)  (343,225) 

     

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from units created   2,505,207    783,379  

Payments for cancellation of units   (927,414)   (405,944) 

Net cash generated from financing activities   1,577,793    377,435  

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   236,492   34,210  

Effects of foreign exchange differences   (1,225)    (391) 

Cash at beginning of the financial period   295,968   71,837 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
period 9  531,235   105,656 

     

Cash and cash equivalents comprised:     

Bank balances  531,235  105,656 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial 
period 9 531,235  105,656 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements form an integral part of the unaudited financial 
statements. 



PRINCIPAL US HIGH CONVICTION EQUITY FUND 

 

8 
 

 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2024 
 
1. THE FUND, THE MANAGER AND ITS PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

 
Principal US High Conviction Equity Fund (the “Fund”) was constituted pursuant to the 
execution of a Deed dated 20 August 2021 and a First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 (referred to as the “Deed”) between Principal Asset Management Berhad and HSBC 
(Malaysia) Trustees Berhad (the “Trustee”). 
 
The Fund seeks to achieve its objective by investing in USA equities and other equity related 
securities by focusing its investment primarily in companies with market capitalization of not 
more than USD 30 billion and a part of the Fund’s NAV in companies with market capitalization 
of more than USD 30 billion. The investment universe includes listed securities as well as initial 
public offerings. The Fund is expected to have a growth bias overall, including both growth and 
value-oriented companies over time. The Fund may also opt to seek investment exposure via 
CIS that is in line with the Fund’s objective, subject to the requirements of the SC Guidelines. 
The Fund will also invest in liquid assets such as money market instruments and/or Deposits 
for liquidity purpose. 

 
The asset allocation for the Fund is as follows: 
▪ Minimum 70% of the Fund’s NAV will be invested into equities and other equity related 

securities; and 
▪ The balance of the Fund’s NAV will be invested in money market instruments and/ or 

Deposits.  
 

The Fund had issued the First Supplemental Master Prospectus dated 27 October 2023. 
 

All investments are subjected to the SC Guidelines on Unit Trust Funds (“GUTF”), SC 
requirements, the Deed, except where exemptions or variations have been approved by the SC, 
internal policies and procedures and the Fund’s objective. 
 
The Manager, is a joint venture between Principal Financial Group®, a member of the 
FORTUNE 500® and a Nasdaq-listed global financial services and CIMB Group Holdings 
Berhad, one of Southeast Asia’s leading universal banking groups. The principal activities of 
the Manager are the establishment and management of unit trust funds and fund management 
activities. 
 

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the financial statements: 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
MFRS as issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS and IFRS requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reported financial period. 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in 
Note 2(l). 

 
There are no other standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are 
effective for interim periods beginning on 1 October 2023 that have a material effect on 
the financial statements of the Fund. 
 
None of the standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for 
the financial period beginning on/after 1 April 2024 are applicable to the Fund. 

 
(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
Classification 
 
The Fund classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 
• those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss, and 
• those to be measured at amortised cost. 

 
The Fund classifies its investments based on both the Fund’s business model for 
managing those financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis. The Fund is primarily focused on fair value information 
and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions. The 
Fund has not taken the option to irrevocably designate any equity securities as fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”). 

 
Derivatives are financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss unless they 
are designated hedges (Note 2(k)). 
 
The Fund classifies cash and cash equivalents, amount due from dealers, amount due 
from Manager and dividend receivables as financial assets at amortised cost as these 
financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flows consisting of the amount 
outstanding. 

 
All of the Fund’s financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the 
date on which the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially 
recognised at fair value. Transaction costs are expensed in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument. 

   
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Fund has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired. 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

Recognition and measurement (continued) 
 

Unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income within net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 
the financial period which they arise. 
 
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income as part of gross dividend income when the 
Fund’s right to receive payments is established. 

 
Foreign quoted securities are valued at the last traded market price quoted on the 
respective foreign stock exchanges at the close of the business day of the respective 
foreign stock exchanges. 

 
If a valuation based on the market price does not represent the fair value of the quoted 
securities, for example during abnormal market conditions or when no market price is 
available, including in the event of a suspension in the quotation of the quoted securities 
for a period exceeding 14 days, or such shorter period as agreed by the Trustee, then 
the quoted securities are valued as determined in good faith by the Manager, based on 
the methods or bases approved by the Trustee after appropriate technical consultation. 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost and other financial liabilities are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
Impairment for assets carried at amortised costs 
 
The Fund measures credit risk and expected credit losses (“ECL”) using probability of 
default, exposure at default and loss given default. The Manager considers both 
historical analysis and forward-looking information in determining any ECL. The 
Manager consider the probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have 
a low risk of default and the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their 
contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss allowance has been 
recognised based on 12 month ECL as any such impairment would be wholly 
insignificant to the Fund. 
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
 
A significant increase in credit risk is defined by the Manager as any contractual payment 
which is more than 30 days past due. 
 
Definition of default and credit-impaired financial assets 
 
Any contractual payment which is more than 90 days past due is considered credit 
impaired. 
 
Write-off 
 
The Fund writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all 
practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. The assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is based on 
unavailability of debtor’s sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash 
flows to repay the amount. The Fund may write-off financial assets that are still subject 
to enforcement activity. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will 
result in impairment gains. There are no write-offs/recoveries during the financial period 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Income recognition 
  
 Dividend income is recognised on the ex-dividend date when the right to receive 

payment is established. 
 
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit 
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance). 
 

 Realised gain or loss on disposal of quoted securities are accounted for as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of quoted securities, 
determined on a weighted average cost basis. 

 
(d) Cash and cash equivalents  

 
For the purpose of statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalent comprise bank 
balances which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
(e) Foreign currency 
 

Functional and presentation currency 
 
 Items included in the financial statements of the Fund are measured using the currency 

of the primary economic environment in which the Fund operates (the “functional 
currency”). The financial statements are presented in USD, which is the Fund’s 
functional and presentation currency. 

 
Due to mixed factors in determining the functional currency of the Fund, the Manager 
has used its judgement to determine the functional currency that most faithfully 
represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions 
and have determined the functional currency to be in USD primarily due to the following 
factors: 
 
i) The Fund’s investments are denominated in USD; 
ii) Significant portion of the cash is denominated in USD for the purpose of making 

settlement of the foreign trades; and 
iii) Significant portion of the Fund’s expenses are denominated in USD. 

 
 Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are 
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at financial period-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in statement of 
comprehensive income.  

 
(f) Transaction costs 
 

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire or dispose financial assets or liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss. They include fees and commissions paid to agents, 
advisors, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs, when incurred, are immediately 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as expenses. 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Taxation 
 

 Current tax expense is determined according to Malaysian tax laws at the current rate 
based upon the taxable profit earned during the financial period.  

 
Tax on dividend income from foreign quoted securities is based on the tax regime of the 
respective countries that the Fund invests in. 
 
Withholding taxes on investment income from investment are based on tax regime of 
the respective countries that the Fund invests in. They are presented within the other 
expenses line in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
(h) Realised and unrealised portions of profit or loss after taxation 

 
The analysis of realised and unrealised portions of profit or loss after taxation as 
presented on the statement of comprehensive income is prepared in accordance with 
GUTF. 

 
(i) Unit holders’ contributions  

 
The unit holders’ contributions to the Fund meet the definition of puttable instruments 
classified as financial liability under MFRS 132 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”. 
 
The Fund issues cancellable units, in four classes of units, known respectively as the 
Class MYR, Class MYR-H, Class SGD and Class USD which are cancelled at the unit 
holder’s option. The units are classified as financial liabilities. Cancellable units can be 
reinvested to the Fund at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of the Fund’s 
NAV of respective classes. The outstanding units are carried at the redemption amount 
that is payable at the date of the statement of financial position if the unit holder 
exercises the right to reinvest the unit to the Fund. 
 
Units are created and cancelled at the unit holders’ option at prices based on the Fund’s 
NAV per unit of respective classes at the close of business on the relevant dealing day. 
The Fund’s NAV per unit of respective classes is calculated by dividing the net assets 
attributable to unit holders of respective classes with the total number of outstanding 
units of respective classes. 

 
(j) Amount due from/to dealers 
 

Amounts due from and amount due to dealers represent receivables for Spot foreign 
exchange (“FX”) sold and payables for Spot FX purchased that have been contracted 
for but not yet settled or delivered on the statement of financial position date respectively.  

 
(k)  Derivative financial instruments 
 

A derivative financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset 
of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. 
 
A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another 
financial asset from another enterprise, a contractual right to exchange financial 
instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially favourable, or 
an equity instrument of another enterprise. 
 
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial asset to another enterprise, or to exchange financial instruments with another 
enterprise under conditions that are potentially unfavourable. 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(k)  Derivative financial instruments (continued) 
 
The Fund’s derivative financial instruments comprise forward foreign exchange 
contracts. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. 

 
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward 
exchange rates at the date of statements of financial position, with the resulting value 
discounted back to present value. 
 
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative 
is designated as a hedging instrument, and the nature of the item being hedged. 
Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified as held-for-trading 
and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(b). 

 
(l) Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 

 
The Fund makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. To 
enhance the information content of the estimates, certain key variables that are 
anticipated to have material impact to the Fund’s results and financial position are tested 
for sensitivity to changes in the underlying parameters. 

 
 Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the Manager and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
In undertaking any of the Fund’s investment, the Manager will ensure that all assets of 
the Fund under management will be valued appropriately, that is at fair value and in 
compliance with the GUTF. 

 
However, the Manager is of the opinion that in applying these accounting policies, no 
significant judgement was required. 

 
3. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 

The Fund aims to achieve capital appreciation over the medium to long term through 
investments in United States of America equities. 
 
The Fund is exposed to a variety of risks which include market risk (inclusive of price risk and 
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  
 
Financial risk management is carried out through internal control process adopted by the Manager 
and adherence to the investment restrictions as stipulated in the Deed and GUTF.  

 
(a) Market risk 

 
(i) Price risk  

 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value of an investment in quoted securities will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
currency risk). The value of quoted securities may fluctuate according to the 
activities of individual companies, sector and overall political and economic 
conditions. Such fluctuation may cause the Fund's NAV and prices of units to fall 
as well as rise, and income produced by the Fund may also fluctuate. 
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Price risk (continued) 
 

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of investment in collective investment 
schemes will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those 
arising from interest rate risk and currency risk). The value of collective 
investment schemes may fluctuate according to the activities of individual 
companies, sector and overall political and economic conditions. Such 
fluctuation may cause the Fund's NAV and prices of units to fall as well as rise, 
and income produced by the Fund may also fluctuate. 
 
The price risk is managed through diversification and selection of collective 
investment schemes and other financial instruments within specified limits 
according to the Deeds. 
 

(ii) Currency risk 
 
Currency risk of the Fund is associated with investments that are quoted and/or 
priced in foreign currency denomination. Foreign currency risk is the risk that the 
value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Manager will evaluate the likely directions of a foreign currency versus 
USD based on considerations of economic fundamentals such as interest rate 
differentials, balance of payments position, debt levels, and technical chart 
considerations. 

 
 (b) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligation 
resulting in financial loss to the Fund. 
 

 For amount due from Manager, the settlement terms of the proceeds from the creation 
of units receivable from the Manager are governed by the GUTF. 

 
 In derivative activities, credit risk arises when counterparties to derivative contracts, are 

unable or unwilling to fulfil their obligation to pay the positive fair value or receivable 
resulting from the execution of contract terms. 

 
(c) Liquidity risk 

 
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial 

obligations. 
 
  The Manager manages this risk by maintaining sufficient level of liquid assets to meet 

anticipated payments and cancellations of the units by unit holders. Liquid assets 
comprise bank balances and other instruments, which are capable of being converted 
into cash within 7 business days. Generally, all investments are subject to a certain 
degree of liquidity risk depending on the nature of the investment instruments, market, 
sector and other factors. For the purpose of the Fund, the Manager will attempt to 
balance the entire portfolio by investing in a mix of assets with satisfactory trading 
volume and those that occasionally could encounter poor liquidity. This is expected to 
reduce the risks for the entire portfolio without limiting the Fund’s growth potentials. 
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
(d) Capital risk management 

 
The capital of the Fund is represented by net assets attributable to unit holders. The 
amount of capital can change significantly on a daily basis as the Fund is subjected to 
daily subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of unit holders. The Fund’s 
objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns to unit holder and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities 
of the Fund. 

 
(e) Fair value estimation  

 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date (i.e. an exit price). 
 
The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets (such as trading securities) 
are based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the financial period end 
date. The Fund utilises the last traded market price for financial assets where the last 
traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. In circumstances where the last traded price 
is not within the bid-ask spread, the Manager will determine the point within the bid-ask 
spread that is most representative of the fair value. 
 
An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place 
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 
 
The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined 
by using valuation techniques. 

 
  (i)  Fair value hierarchy  

 
 The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value. The different 

levels have been defined as follows: 
 

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1) 

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2) 

• Inputs for the asset and liability that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3) 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is 
categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the 
significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its 
entirety.  
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Fair value estimation (continued) 
 
  (i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 
If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant 
adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 
measurement. 
 
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in 
its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. 
 
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant 
judgement by the Fund. The Fund considers observable data to be that market 
data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 
verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively 
involved in the relevant market. 
 

 USD  USD  USD  USD 

31.03.2024        
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss:        

- Collective investment 
schemes 4,397,791  -  -  4,397,791 

        
- Derivative liabilities at 
fair value through 
profit or loss:        

  - Forward foreign 
currency contracts -  10,419  -  10,419 

 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 USD  USD  USD  USD 
30.09.2023 
Audited        
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss:        

- Collective investment 
schemes 2,541,925  -  -  2,541,925 

        
Financial liabilities at 
fair value through 
profit or loss:        

- Derivative 
liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit or loss:        

- Forward foreign 
currency 
contracts -  1,196  -  1,196 
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3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(CONTINUED) 

 
(e) Fair value estimation (continued) 

 
  (i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 
Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets 
and are therefore classified within Level 1, include quoted securities which are 
active listed equities. The Fund does not adjust the quoted prices for these 
instruments. The Fund’s policies on valuation of these financial assets are stated 
in Note 2(b). 
 

(ii) The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, amount due from dealers, 
amount due from Manager, dividend receivables and all current liabilities are a 
reasonable approximation of their fair values due to their short term nature. 
 

4. MANAGEMENT FEE 
 
In accordance with the Deed, the Manager is entitled to a fee of up to 3.00% per annum, 
calculated and accrued daily based on the NAV of the Fund.  
 
For the six months financial period ended 31 March 2024, the management fee for the 
respective classes was recognised at the following rates:  
 

Class MYR Class MYR-H Class SGD Class USD 

1.80% 1.80% 1.80% 1.80% 

 
There was no further liability to the Manager in respect of management fee other than amounts 
recognised above. 

 
5. TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN FEES 
 

In accordance with the Deed, the Trustee is entitled to a maximum fee up to 0.06% per annum, 
calculated and accrued daily based on the NAV of the Fund and paid monthly. The Trustee fee 
includes local custodian fee and charges but excludes foreign sub-custodian fees and charges. 
 
For the financial period ended 31 March 2024, Trustee fee is recognised at a rate of 0.045% 
per annum for each unit class (31.03.2023: 0.06% per annum). 

 
There was no further liability to the Manager in respect of Trustee fee other than the amount 
recognised above. 

 
6. TAXATION 

 

 
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

 USD  USD 

Tax charged for the financial period:    

- Tax on foreign source income 13,057  987 
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6. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 
 

A numerical reconciliation between profit before taxation multiplied by the Malaysian statutory 
income tax rate and tax expense of the Fund is as follows: 
 

 

01.10.2023 
to 31.03.2024  

01.10.2022 
to 31.03.2023 

 USD  USD 

Profit before taxation 504,608  56,570 

    
Taxation at Malaysian statutory rate of 24% 

(31.03.2023: 24%) 121,106  13,577 

Tax effects of:    

- Investment income not subject for tax purposes (129,958)  (16,247) 

- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 706  677 
- Restriction on tax deductible expenses for  
    Unit Trust Funds 8,146  1,993 

- Tax on foreign source income 13,057  987 

Taxation 13,057  987 

 
7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 

 

31.03.2024 
  

30.09.2023 
Audited 

 USD  USD 

At fair value through profit or loss:    

- Collective investment schemes 4,397,791  2,541,925 

    

 
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

 USD  USD 
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss:      

  - Realised loss on disposals -  (8,925) 

  - Unrealised fair value gain 588,968  67,055 

 588,968  58,130 

    
 

Name of counter Quantity  
Aggregate 

cost  
Market 

value  
Percentage 

of NAV 

 Units  USD  USD  % 

31.03.2024            
COLLECTIVE 

INVESTMENT SCHEMES             
 

Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Core S&P 
Smallcap ETF  7,985   797,810  882,502  17.98 

Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Russell 2500 
ETF  13,433   777,008  881,339  17.96 
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 

Name of counter Quantity  
Aggregate 

cost  
Market 

value  
Percentage 

of NAV 

 Units  USD  USD  % 

31.03.2024 (continued)            
COLLECTIVE 

INVESTMENT SCHEMES 
(CONTINUED)             

 
Blackrock Fund Advisors-

Ishares Russell Mid-Cap 
ETF  10,379   760,352  872,770   17.78  

Charles Schwab 
Investment 
Management Inc-US 
Small Cap ETF  17,922   791,038  882,479   17.98  

The Vanguard Group – 
Vanguard Small-Cap 
ETF   3,844   768,318  878,701   17.91  

        

TOTAL COLLECTIVE 
INVESTMENT SCHEMES 53,563  3,894,526  4,397,791  89.61 

        
ACCUMULATED 

UNREALISED GAIN ON 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT 
FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS   503,265     

        
TOTAL FINANCIAL 

ASSETS AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS   4,397,791     

 
30.09.2023 
Audited            
COLLECTIVE 

INVESTMENT SCHEMES             
 

Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Russell 5,362  521,294  505,797  17.81 

Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Russell 9,340  527,460  509,123  17.93 

Charles Schwab 
Investment 
Management Inc- 7,373  526,198  510,580  17.98 

Ishares Russell 12,233  527,290  506,691  17.84 
The Vanguard Group - 

Vanguard  2,696  525,386  509,734  17.94 
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 

Name of counter Quantity  
Aggregate 

cost  
Market 

value  
Percentage 

of NAV 

 Units  USD  USD  % 
30.09.2023 
Audited (Continued)            
COLLECTIVE 

INVESTMENT SCHEMES 
(CONTINUED)             

 

TOTAL COLLECTIVE 
INVESTMENT SCHEMES 37,004  2,627,628  2,541,925  89.50 

        
ACCUMULATED 

UNREALISED LOSS ON 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT 
FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS   (85,703)     

        
TOTAL FINANCIAL 

ASSETS AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS   2,541,925     

 
8. DERIVATIVE (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 

 31.03.2024  
30.09.2023 

Audited 

 USD  USD 

Derivative (liabilities)/assets (10,419)  1,196 

    

 
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

 USD  USD 
Net (loss)/gain on derivatives at fair value through 

profit or loss:      
  - Realised loss on forward foreign currency  
      contracts   (57,097)   (1,177) 
  - Unrealised fair value (loss)/gain on forward foreign  
      currency contracts (9,223)   4,991  

 (66,320)  3,814 

    
As at 31 March 2024, there were total of 2 outstanding (31.03.2023: 3 outstanding) forward 
foreign currency contracts. The notional principal amount of the outstanding forward foreign 
currency contracts amounted to USD3,152,373 (31.03.2023: USD489,406). 

 
The forward foreign currency contracts were entered into during the financial period to minimise 
the risk of foreign exchange exposure between the USD and the foreign currencies exposure 
of the Fund. 
 
As the Fund has not adopted hedge accounting during the financial period, any changes in the 
fair value of the forward foreign currency contract is recognised immediately in the statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period. 
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
31.03.2024 

  
30.09.2023 

Audited 

 USD  USD 

    

Bank balances 531,235  295,968 

 
10. NUMBER OF UNITS IN CIRCULATION (UNITS) 

 

 
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  

01.10.2022 
to 30.09.2023 

Audited 

 No. of units  No. of units 

Class MYR (i)  6,175,994   3,071,266 

Class MYR-H (ii)  14,517,672   11,226,297 

Class SGD (iii)  252,684   59,561 

Class USD (iv)  1,000   1,000 

  20,947,350   14,358,124 

 
(i) Class MYR 

At the beginning of the financial period/year  3,071,265   2,375,244 

Add  : Creation of units from applications  4,962,936   2,523,620 

Less : Cancellation of units  (1,858,207)  (1,827,598) 

At the end of the financial period/year  6,175,994   3,071,266 

    
(ii) Class MYR-H 

At the beginning of the financial period/year  11,226,298   1,110,620 

Add  : Creation of units from applications  5,591,210   15,842,982 

Less : Cancellation of units  (2,299,836)  (5,727,305) 

At the end of the financial period/year  14,517,672   11,226,297 

    
(iii) Class SGD 

At the beginning of the financial period/year  59,561   1,000 

Add  : Creation of units from applications  212,365   58,561 

Less : Cancellation of units  (19,242)  - 

At the end of the financial period/year  252,684   59,561 

    
(iv) Class USD 

At the beginning of the financial period/year 1,000  1,000 

Add  : Creation of units from applications -  - 

At the end of the financial period/year 1,000  1,000 
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11. TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO (“TER”) 
 

 
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

 %  % 

TER 1.02  1.17 

 
 TER is derived based on the following calculation: 
 

TER       = (A + B + C + D + E) x 100  
        F 

 
 A = Management fee  
 B = Trustee and custodian fees 
 C = Audit fee 
 D = Tax agent’s fee 
 E = Other expenses excluding withholding tax 
 F = Average NAV of the Fund calculated on a daily basis 
 

The average NAV of the Fund for the financial period calculated on a daily basis is 
USD3,622,238 (31.03.2023: USD925,507). 

 
12. PORTFOLIO TURNOVER RATIO (“PTR”) 
 

 
01.10.2023 

to 31.03.2024  
01.10.2022 

to 31.03.2023 

    

PTR (times) 0.17  0.32 

 
PTR is derived based on the following calculation: 
 

(Total acquisition for the financial period + total disposal for the financial period)  2   
       Average NAV of the Fund for the financial period calculated on a daily basis 
 
where: 
total acquisition for the financial period = USD1,266,898 (31.03.2023: USD468,523) 
total disposal for the financial period     = NIL (31.03.2023: USD131,824) 
 

13. UNITS HELD BY THE MANAGER AND PARTIES RELATED TO THE MANAGER, AND 
SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 
 
The related parties and their relationship with the Fund are as follows: 
 
Related parties  Relationship 

   

Principal Asset Management Berhad  The Manager 

   

Principal Financial Group, Inc.   Ultimate holding company of shareholder of 
the Manager 

   

Principal International (Asia) Ltd  Shareholder of the Manager 

   

Subsidiaries and associates of Principal  
  Financial Group Inc., other than above, as  
  disclosed in its financial statements 

 Fellow subsidiary and associated companies 
of the ultimate holding company of 
shareholder of the Manager 
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13. UNITS HELD BY THE MANAGER AND PARTIES RELATED TO THE MANAGER, AND 
SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED) 

 
Related parties  Relationship 

   

CIMB Group Holdings Bhd  Ultimate holding company of shareholder of 
the Manager 

   

CIMB Group Sdn Bhd  Shareholder of the Manager 

   

Subsidiaries and associates of CIMB Group  
  Holdings Bhd, other than above, as  
  disclosed in its financial statements 

 Fellow subsidiary and associated companies     
  of the ultimate holding company of the    
  Manager 

 
Units held by the Manager and parties related to the Manager 
 

  
31.03.2024 

   
30.09.2023 

Audited 

 No. of units USD  No. of units USD 

Manager      
Principal Asset Management  
  Berhad      

   -  Class MYR  1,323   336              196               43  

   -  Class MYR-H  6   1                  6                 1  

   -  Class SGD  1,000   785          1,000             672  

   -  Class USD  1,000   1,064          1,000             910  

      
In the opinion of the Manager, the above units were transacted at the prevailing market price 
which is at arm’s length basis. 
  
The units are held beneficially by the Manager for booking purposes. Other than the above, 
there were no units held by the Directors or parties related to the Manager. 
 
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, there are no significant related 
party transactions and balances for the financial period ended 31 March 2024. 

 
14. TRANSACTIONS WITH BROKERS 
 

Details of transactions with the top 10 brokers for the six months financial period ended 31 March 
2024 were as follows: 
 

Brokers 
  Value of 

trades  

Percentage  
of  

total trades  
Brokerage  

Fees  

Percentage  
of total 

brokerage 
fees 

 USD  %  USD  % 
Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Core S&P 
Smallcap ETF  276,517    21.83    43    14.68  

Charles Schwab Investment 
Management Inc-Schwab 
Us Small Cap Etf  263,748    20.82    97    33.11  

Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Russell 2500 ETF  249,547    19.70    74    25.26  
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14. TRANSACTIONS WITH BROKERS (CONTINUED) 
 

Details of transactions with the top 10 brokers for the six months financial period ended 31 March 
2024 were as follows (continued): 
 

Brokers 
  Value of 

trades  

Percentage  
of  

total trades  
Brokerage  

Fees  

Percentage  
of total 

brokerage 
fees 

The Vanguard Group - 
Vanguard Small-Cap ETF  242,932    19.18    21    7.17  

Blackrock Fund Advisors-
Ishares Russell Mid-Cap 
ETF  234,154    18.47    58    19.78  

  1,266,898    100.00    293    100.00  

 
Details of transactions with the top 10 brokers for the six months financial period ended 31 March 
2023 were as follows: 
 

Brokers 
  Value of 

trades  

Percentage  
of  

total trades  
Brokerage  

Fees  

Percentage  
of total 

brokerage 
fees 

 USD  %  USD  % 

Depository Trust Company   336,145   55.99   48   69.09 
Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner 
& Smith Inc  264,253   44.01   22   30.91 

 600,398  100.00  70  100.00 
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DIRECTORY 
 
Head Office of the Manager 
Principal Asset Management Berhad (Company No.: 199401018399 (304078-K)) 
Level 32, Exchange 106, 
Lingkaran TRX,  
55188 Tun Razak Exchange, Kuala Lumpur 
MALAYSIA. 
Tel: (03) 8680 8000 
 
Website 
www.principal.com.my 
 
E-mail address 
myservice@principal.com 
 
Customer Care Centre 
(03) 7723 7260 
 
Chat with us via WhatsApp: 
(6016) 299 9792 
 
Trustee for the Principal US High Conviction Equity Fund 
HSBC (Malaysia) Trustee Berhad (Company No.: 193701000084 (1281-T)) 
19th Floor, Menara IQ, Lingkaran TRX, 
55188 Tun Razak Exchange, Kuala Lumpur, MALAYSIA. 
Tel: (03) 2075 7800 
Fax: (03) 8894 2611 
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                               Appendix 1 
 

 
First Supplemental Master Prospectus dated 27 October 2023 

 

Section / 
Page 

Description Description 

  AmanahRaya Trustees Berhad (200701008892 
(766894-T)) Universal Trustee (Malaysia) Berhad (197401000629 
(17540-D)), PB Trustee Services Berhad (196801000374(7968-T)), and 
Maybank Trustees Berhad 196301000109 (5004-P)) in Prospectus 1 

 

Definitions/ii
i 

Nil Class D - The Class issued by the Fund 
denominated in MYR and 
differentiated by feature such as type 
of eligible investors and/or 
transaction methods. 

e-Wallet App - Mobile application of the e-wallet 
that allows an individual to make 
electronic transaction, which includes 

-
wallet. 

e-Wallet 
Provider 

- Refers to e-money issuer approved by 
BNM, which includes but not limited 
to TNG Digital Sdn Bhd. 

HSBC Group - HSBC Holdings plc, its subsidiaries, 
related bodies corporate, associated 
entities and undertakings and any of 
their branches.  

 

Definitions/i
v 

Trustee - ART, MTB, PBTSB, HSBCT and/or UTMB. 
 

Trustee - HSBC (Malaysia) Trustee Berhad.  
 

Corporate 
Directory/vi 

Customer Care Centre 
Ground Floor Bangunan CIMB 
Jalan Semantan 
Damansara Heights 
50490 Kuala Lumpur MALAYSIA 
Tel       : (603) 7723 7260 
Fax       : (603) 7718 3003 
Whatsapp    : (6016) 299 9792 
 
Website  : www.principal.com.my 

Customer Care Centre 
Ground Floor Bangunan CIMB 
Jalan Semantan 
Damansara Heights 
50490 Kuala Lumpur MALAYSIA 
Tel                 : (03) 7723 7260 
Fax                 : (03) 7718 3003 
WhatsApp              : (6016) 299 9792 

 
Website 
www.principal.com.my 

https://principalseasia.sharepoint.com/sites/TEAMS-MY-ProductDevelopment/Shared%20Documents/Prod%20Dev/WIP%20Funds%20establishment/Change%20of%20GUTF/Annie%20-%20MP%20(conventional)/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/w071902/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/W071902/AppData/Roaming/Microsoft/Word/www.principal.com.my
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Section / 
Page 

Description Description 

E-mail     : service@principal.com.my 

 

 
E-mail 
service@principal.com.my 
goinvest@principal.com.my (for Class D only) 
 

Corporate 
Directory/ 

vi 

The Trustee 
Maybank Trustees Berhad 
 
Business / Registered address 
8th Floor Menara Maybank 
100, Jalan Tun Perak 
50050 Kuala Lumpur MALAYSIA 
Tel : (603)-2070 8833/ 2074 8952 
Fax : (603)-2070 9387 
Email       : mtb.ut@maybank.com.my 
Website  : www.maybank2u.com.my 

 

The Trustee 
HSBC (Malaysia) Trustee Berhad  

 
Business/Registered address 
Level 19, Menara IQ, Lingkaran TRX  
55188 Tun Razak Exchange  
Kuala Lumpur, MALAYSIA 
Tel : (603) 2075 7800 
Fax : (603) 8894 2611 
Email  : fs.client.services.myh@hsbc.com.my 

 

1.1.1./1 Principal Malaysia Titans Fund 
 

distributable income. The distribution (if any) may vary from period to 
period depending on the investment objective and the performance 
of the Class. 

Principal Malaysia Titans Fund 
For Class MYR and Class D 

distributable income. The distribution (if any) may vary from period to 
period depending on the investment objective and the performance 
of the Class. 
 

1.1.5./9 Principal Titans Income Plus Fund 
 
Distribution (if any) is expected to be distributed annually, depending 
on the performance of the Class and at our discretion. 

Principal Titans Income Plus Fund 
For Class MYR and Class D 
Distribution (if any) is expected to be distributed annually, depending 
on the performance of the Class and at our discretion. 
 

1.1.9./17 Principal Lifetime Balanced Income Fund 
 
We have the discretion to 
distributable income. The distribution (if any) may vary from period to 
period depending on the investment objective and the performance 
of the Class. 

Principal Lifetime Balanced Income Fund 
For Class MYR and Class D 

distributable income. The distribution (if any) may vary from period to 
period depending on the investment objective and the performance 
of the Class. 
 

1.1.11./21 Principal Lifetime Bond Fund 
 
Distribution (if any) is expected to be distributed once a year every 
January at our discretion. 

Principal Lifetime Bond Fund 
For Class MYR and Class D 
Distribution (if any) is expected to be distributed once a year every 
January at our discretion. 
 

mailto:service@principal.com.my
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1.1.13./25 Principal Asia Titans Fund 
 

distributable income. The distribution (if any) may vary from period to 
period depending on the investment objective and the performance 
of the Class. 

Principal Asia Titans Fund 
For Class MYR and Class D 

distributable income. The distribution (if any) may vary from period to 
period depending on the investment objective and the performance 
of the Class. 
 

1.1.19/35 Principal Asia Pacific Renewables Fund 
As the Fund is a qualified sustainable and responsible investment 
fund, the investments of the Fund will be subject to the ESG 
integration approach which involves the analysis of material factors 
in investment analysis and investment decisions, including ESG 
factors as defined by the United Nations sponsored Principles for 

against material ESG risks such as climate change, natural resources, 
human capital, social opportunities and corporate governance. We do 
not seek to exclude companies which are relatively low in an ESG 
assessment rather we see this as an opportunity to engage these 
companies and advocate adoption of best practices for further 
improvement. However, companies that do not improve or 
demonstrate a commitment to improve after engagement exercises 
may be excluded from further investment or we may dispose of the 
investment within an appropriate timeframe.  
 
We will review the fund periodically to ensure the investments of the 
Fund are in line with the sustainability criteria adopted and overall 
impact of the investment of the Fund are not inconsistent with any 

ent become 
inconsistent with the investment strategy or sustainability 
considerations of the Fund, we will dispose the investment within an 
appropriate timeframe. 
 

Principal Asia Pacific Renewables Fund 
As the Fund is a qualified sustainable and responsible investment 
fund, the investments of the Fund will at least two thirds (2/3) of the 

ESG integration* approach which involves the analysis of material 
factors in our investment analysis and investment decisions, including 
ESG factors as defined by the United Nations sponsored Principles for 

fundamental and ESG factors 
including the selection, retention, a
investments. Companies are assessed against relevant and material 
ESG risks such as climate change, natural resources, human capital, 
social opportunities which may include but are not limited to climate 
change and corporate governance. We do not seek to exclude 
companies which are ranked relatively low in an ESG assessment, 
rather we see this as an opportunity to engage these companies and 
advocate adoption of best practices for further improvement. 
However, companies that do not improve or demonstrate a 
commitment to improve after engagement exercises may be 
excluded from further investment or we may dispose of the 
investment within an appropriate timeframe. We may engage 
companies in any area of ESG concern, as our understanding of each 
company is constantly informed by ongoing developments in the 
company/industry. In our investment process of ESG integration, it is 
not necessary to dispose of the investment even if the company does 
not demonstrate a commitment to improve on a particular ESG issue 
if it is not deemed as material. Effecting change on a company as a 
minority shareholder would also take time. The appropriate 
timeframe referred to here would be subject to recommendation by 
the analyst covering the security, and the decision by the portfolio 
manager. 
 
As part of ESG integration, we overlay ESG analysis into the 
fundamental research process, where a wide range of ESG factors are 
considered, including a company's relationships with each of its 
stakeholders, such as shareholders, customers, suppliers and their 
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supply chains, their communities, and the environment. The 
applicable ESG characteristics will depend on the sector from which 
the stock originates and so will vary from stock to stock. The final 
outcome of the analysis is to assign either a low, medium or high 
sustainability risk and an improving, stable or deteriorating 
sustainability trend. The analyst will document the assessment and 
discussion in the research platform or via email. Companies ranked 
relatively low in an ESG assessment means that they are determined 

risk framework. 
 
We will review the Fund periodically annually to ensure that the 
investments of the Fund within the Threshold are in line with the 
sustainability criteria adopted and the overall impact of the 
investment of the Fund are not inconsistent with any other 
sustainability criteria 
becomes inconsistent with the investment strategy or sustainability 
considerations of the Fund, we will dispose the investment within an 
appropriate timeframe 90 days subject to the best interest of Unit 
holders and the Fund. In th
the Threshold, we will rectify as soon as practicable  within 90 days 
from the date of breach unless stated otherwise in the Guidelines on 
Sustainable and Responsible Investment Funds and subject to the 
best interest of Unit holders and the Fund.  

 
*ESG integration refers to the process of incorporating ESG issues into 
our investment analysis and decision-making processes and may 
include practices of engagement and active ownership 

 

1.2.2./37-38 
Funds 

Name of 
Class 

Launch date 

Equity Funds 

Principal Malaysia Titans 
Fund 

Class MYR 1 August 1995 

Principal Malaysia 
Enhanced Opportunities 
Fund 

Class MYR 
18 August 

2004 

Principal Malaysia 
Opportunities Fund 

Class MYR 12 March 1998 

Funds 
Name 

of 
Class 

Launch 
date 

Initial 
offer 

period 

Initial 
offer 
price 
per 
unit 

Equity Funds   

Principal 
Malaysia Titans 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

1 
August 
1995 

N/A N/A 

Class 
D 

XX XX 

Note 1 

1 day 
which 
is on 

MYR1.
0000 
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Principal Titans Growth & 
Income Fund 

Class MYR 15 May 1991 

Principal Titans Income 
Plus Fund 

Class MYR 1 October 2003 

Principal Small Cap 
Opportunities Fund 

Class MYR 20 April 2004 

Principal KLCI-Linked 
Fund# 

N/A 8 June 2000 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

Class MYR 12 March 1998 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income Fund 

Class MYR 
10 August 

1995 

Principal Dynamic 
Enhanced Malaysia 
Income Fund 

Class MYR 12 March 1998 

Fixed Income Funds 

Principal Lifetime Bond 
Fund 

Class MYR 
15 November 

1995 

Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond Fund 

Class MYR 23 March 2004 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal Asia Titans Fund Class MYR 1 March 2006 

Principal China-India-
Indonesia Opportunities 
Fund 

Class MYR 
21 January 

2010 

Principal Greater Bay 
Fund 

Class AUD-
Hedged 

31 October 
2019 

Class MYR-
Hedged 

Class SGD-
Hedged 

Class USD 

Principal Asia Dynamic 
Bond Fund 

Class MYR 15 March 2019 

the 
launch 

date 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportunities 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

18 
August 
2004 

N/A N/A 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Opportunities 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

12 
March 
1998 

N/A N/A 

Principal Titans 
Growth & Income 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

15 May 
1991 

N/A N/A 

Principal Titans 
Income Plus 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

1 
Octobe
r 2003 

N/A N/A 

Class 
D 

XX XX 

Note 1 

1 day 
which 
is on 
the 

launch 
date 

MYR1.
0000 

Principal Small 
Cap 
Opportunities 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

20 
April 
2004 

N/A N/A 

Principal KLCI-
Linked Fund# 

N/A 
8 June 
2000 

N/A N/A 

Mixed Asset Funds   

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

Class 
MYR 

12 
March 
1998 

N/A N/A 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

10 
August 
1995 

N/A N/A 

Class 
D 

XX XX 

Note 1 
1 day 
which 

MYR1.
0000 
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Principal China Direct 
Opportunities Fund 

Class MYR 

8 March 2018 Class SGD 

Class USD 

Principal US High 
Conviction Equity Fund 

Class MYR 

12 January 
2022 

Class MYR-
Hedged 

Class SGD 

Class USD 

Principal Asia Pacific 
Renewables Fund 

Class AUD-
Hedged 

18 May 2022 

Class MYR-
Hedged 

Class SGD-
Hedged 

Class USD 
 

is on 
the 

launch 
date 

Principal 
Dynamic 
Enhanced 
Malaysia Income 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

12 
March 
1998 

N/A N/A 

Fixed Income Funds   

Principal Lifetime 
Bond Fund 

Class 
MYR 

15 
Novem

ber 
1995 

N/A N/A 

Class 
D 

XX XX 

Note 1 

1 day 
which 
is on 
the 

launch 
date 

MYR1.
0000 

Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

23 
March 
2004 

N/A N/A 

Principal Asia 
Titans Fund 

Class 
MYR 

1 
March 
2006 

N/A N/A 

Class 
D 

XX XX 

Note 1 

1 day 
which 
is on 
the 

launch 
date 

MYR1.
0000 

Principal China-
India-Indonesia 
Opportunities 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

21 
Januar
y 2010 

N/A N/A 

Principal Greater 
Bay Fund 

Class 
AUD-
Hedg

ed 

31 
Octobe
r 2019 

N/A N/A 
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Class 
MYR-
Hedg

ed 

N/A N/A 

Class 
SGD-
Hedg

ed 

N/A N/A 

Class 
USD 

N/A N/A 

Principal Asia 
Dynamic Bond 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

15 
March 
2019 

N/A N/A 

Principal China 
Direct 
Opportunities 
Fund 

Class 
MYR 

8 
March 
2018 

N/A N/A 

Class 
SGD 

N/A N/A 

Class 
USD 

N/A N/A 

Principal US High 
Conviction 
Equity Fund 

Class 
MYR 

12 
Januar
y 2022 

N/A N/A 

Class 
MYR-
Hedg

ed 

N/A N/A 

Class 
SGD 

N/A N/A 

Class 
USD 

N/A N/A 

Principal Asia 
Pacific 
Renewables 
Fund 

Class 
AUD-
Hedg

ed 

18 May 
2022 

N/A N/A 

Class 
MYR-
Hedg

ed 

N/A N/A 

Class 
SGD-

N/A N/A 
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Hedg
ed 

Class 
USD 

N/A N/A 

 

1.8.2/48 Nil 1.8.2.16. Sustainability risk 
The Fund is managed based on the 
characteristics of sustainability. The 
Fund may exclude securities of certain 
companies, industries or sectors and 
may forego certain investment 
opportunities, or dispose of certain 
holdings that do not align with the 
sustainability criteria. As such, the Fund 
may underperform funds that do not 
consider sustainability criteria in their 
investment strategy. This risk cannot 
be mitigated as it is inherent to the 
investment strategy of the Fund. 
 
The Fund may be exposed to 
companies which are ranked relatively 
low in an ESG assessment. We will take 
the opportunity to engage with these 
companies to advocate adoption of 
best practices for further 
improvement. However, the 
effectiveness of engagement may vary 
from company to company. If the 
engagement with such companies is 
not effective, we may exclude such 
companies from further investment or 
may dispose of the investment within 
an appropriate timeframe subject to 
recommendation by the analyst 
covering the security, and the decision 
by the portfolio manager as part of the 
mitigation plan. 
 
We may also rely on  third party data to 
assess  sustainability risk. However, the 
data we use could be inaccurate. 

▪ Principal 
Asia Pacific 
Renewable
s Fund 
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Hence, we may not correctly assess the 
impact of sustainability risk, which may 
negatively impact the performance and 
consequently the NAV of the Fund. We 
mitigate the risk through further 
analysis of data as part of our 
sustainability research process. 
 

 

1.8/48 Nil RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH INVESTMENT IN CLASS D 
 

Cyber security risk 
This is the risk arising from cyber-attack on e-Wallet App. Should the 
e-Wallet App be compromised, it may result in unauthorised 
transactions pertaining to the Fund. Further to that, your investment-
related information and personal data may be leaked. All transactions 
through e-Wallet App and/or the Fund may be temporarily 
suspended, in which you may not be able to transact through e-Wallet 
App or in the Fund due to cyber-attack. 
 
Functionality risk 
This is the risk that the e-Wallet App does not operate as intended due 
to factors including but not limited to connectivity and interface 
issues. If the e-Wallet App does not function as expected, your 
transaction through the e-Wallet App may not be correctly processed 
and/or completed. 

 
Risk associated with discontinuation risk on e-Wallet Provider 
As all the transactions are done through e-Wallet App developed by 
the e-Wallet Provider, the continuous operation of the e-Wallet 
Provider is crucial. The discontinuation of services provided by e-
Wallet Provider may be due to but not limited to revocation of the 
license. Should such event happen, withdrawal from the Fund may be 
delayed.   
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2.1.1./49 

 

Maximum Application Fee (% 
of the NAV per unit) 

Principal 
Distributor

s 
IUTAs 

% % 

Equity Funds 

Principal Malaysia Titans 
Fund 

6.50 6.50 

Principal Malaysia 
Enhanced Opportunities 
Fund 

6.50 6.50 

Principal Malaysia 
Opportunities Fund 

5.00 5.00 

Principal Titans Growth 
& Income Fund 

6.50 6.50 

Principal Titans Income 
Plus Fund 

6.50 6.50 

Principal Small Cap 
Opportunities Fund 

6.00 6.00 

Principal KLCI-Linked 
Fund 

5.50 5.50 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

5.00 5.00 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income Fund 

6.50 6.50 

Principal Dynamic 
Enhanced Malaysia 
Income Fund 

5.00 5.00 

Fixed Income Funds 

Principal Lifetime Bond 
Fund 

2.00 2.00 

Funds 

Maximum Application Fee (% of 
the NAV per unit) 

Principal 
Distributors 

IUTAs 

 
Class D 

 

% % % 

Equity Funds  

Principal Malaysia 
Titans Fund 

6.50 6.50 
6.50 

Principal Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportunities Fund 

6.50 6.50 
N/A 

Principal Malaysia 
Opportunities Fund 

5.00 5.00 
N/A 

Principal Titans 
Growth & Income 
Fund 

6.50 6.50 
N/A 

Principal Titans 
Income Plus Fund 

6.50 6.50 
6.50 

Principal Small Cap 
Opportunities Fund 

6.00 6.00 
N/A 

Principal KLCI-
Linked Fund 

5.50 5.50 
N/A 

Mixed Asset Funds  

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

5.00 5.00 
N/A 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income 
Fund 

6.50 6.50 
6.50 

Principal Dynamic 
Enhanced Malaysia 
Income Fund 

5.00 5.00 
N/A 

Fixed Income Funds  

Principal Lifetime 
Bond Fund 

2.00 2.00 
2.00 
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Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond Fund 

2.00 2.00 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal Asia Titans 
Fund 

6.50 6.50 

Principal China-India-
Indonesia Opportunities 
Fund 

6.50 5.50 

Principal Greater Bay 
Fund 

5.00 5.00 

Principal Asia Dynamic 
Bond Fund 

2.00 2.00 

Principal China Direct 
Opportunities Fund 

5.50 5.50 

Principal US High 
Conviction Equity Fund  

5.00 5.00 

Principal Asia Pacific 
Renewables Fund 

5.00 5.00 
 

Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond 
Fund 

2.00 2.00 
N/A 

Regional & Global Funds  

Principal Asia Titans 
Fund 

6.50 6.50 
6.50 

Principal China-
India-Indonesia 
Opportunities Fund 

6.50 5.50 
N/A 

Principal Greater 
Bay Fund 

5.00 5.00 N/A 

Principal Asia 
Dynamic Bond Fund 

2.00 2.00 N/A 

Principal China 
Direct 
Opportunities Fund 

5.50 5.50 
N/A 

Principal US High 
Conviction Equity 
Fund  

5.00 5.00 
N/A 

Principal Asia Pacific 
Renewables Fund 

5.00 5.00 N/A 

 

2.1.3./50 Switching is treated as a withdrawal from a Class/Fund and an 

classes). As such, you may be charged a Switching Fee equal to the 
difference (if any) between the Application Fees of the Class/Fund 

(or its classes). You will not be charged a Switching Fee, if the Class or 

lower Application Fee than the Application Fee of the Class. In 
addition to the Switching Fee, you may be charged MYR100/ SGD35/ 
USD 35/ AUD35 as the administrative fee for every switch. You may 
negotiate to lower the Switching Fee and/or administrative fee. We 
also have the discretion to waive the Switching Fee and/or 
administrative fee. 

 

When available, switching is treated as a withdrawal from a 
Class/Fund and an investment into another Class or Principal 

Switching Fee equal to the difference (if any) between the Application 
Fees of the Class/Fund and the Application Fee of the other Class or 

to be switched into has a lower Application Fee than the Application 
Fee of the Class. In addition to the Switching Fee, you may be charged 
MYR100/ SGD35/ USD 35/ AUD35 as the administrative fee for every 
switch. You may negotiate to lower the Switching Fee and/or 
administrative fee. We also have the discretion to waive the Switching 
Fee and/or administrative fee. 

2.1.4./50 You may be charged Transfer Fee of not more than MYR50/ SGD15 / 
USD15/ AUD15 for each transfer. 

When available, you may be charged Transfer Fee of not more than 
MYR50/ SGD15 / USD15/ AUD15 for each transfer. 

2.2.2./51-52 The table below stipulates the annual Trustee Fee and custodian fee 
for the respective Funds, based on the NAV of the Fund. The Trustee 

The table below stipulates the annual Trustee Fee and custodian fee 
for the respective Funds, based on the NAV of the Fund. The Trustee 



List of Amendment  
First Supplemental Master Prospectus 

 

37 
 

 
First Supplemental Master Prospectus dated 27 October 2023 

 

Section / 
Page 

Description Description 

Fee and custodian fee shall be accrued daily based on the NAV of the 
Fund and paid monthly. 
 

Funds 
Truste
e 

Maximum Trustee Fee 

(% p.a. of the NAV of the 
Fund)  

Equity Funds 

Principal Malaysia 
Titans Fund 

UTMB 
Note 1 

Principal Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportunities 
Fund 

ART 0.06 

Principal Malaysia 
Opportunities 
Fund 

MTB 0.08 

Principal Titans 
Growth & Income 
Fund 

ART 0.07 

Principal Titans 
Income Plus Fund 

UTMB 0.06 

Principal Small 
Cap Opportunities 
Fund 

MTB 0.07 

Principal KLCI-
Linked Fund 

HSBCT 0.07 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

MTB 0.08 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income 
Fund 

UTMB Note 1 

Principal Dynamic 
Enhanced 
Malaysia Income 
Fund 

MTB 0.08 

Fee and custodian fee shall be accrued daily based on the NAV of the 
Fund and paid monthly. 

 

Funds 

Maximum 
Trustee Fee 

(% p.a. of 
the NAV of 
the Fund)  

With effect from the 
Effective Date, the 
maximum Trustee 

Fee will be revised to 
the below (% p.a. of 

the NAV of the Fund) 

Equity Funds  

Principal 
Malaysia Titans 
Fund 

Note 1 0.01 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportunities 
Fund 

0.06 

0.045 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Opportunities 
Fund 

0.08 

0.045 

Principal Titans 
Growth & 
Income Fund 

0.07 
0.045 

Principal Titans 
Income Plus 
Fund 

0.06 
0.045 

Principal Small 
Cap 
Opportunities 
Fund 

0.07 

0.045 

Principal KLCI-
Linked Fund 

0.07 
0.045 

Mixed Asset Funds  

Principal 
Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

0.08 
0.045 
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Fixed Income Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Bond Fund 

PBTSB 0.05 

Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond 
Fund 

MTB 0.05 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal Asia 
Titans Fund 

UTMB 0.035 

Principal China-
India-Indonesia 
Opportunities 
Fund 

UTMB 0.08 

Principal Greater 
Bay Fund 

HSBCT 
0.06 

Principal Asia 
Dynamic Bond 
Fund 

HSBCT 
0.05 

Principal China 
Direct 
Opportunities 
Fund 

HSBCT 

0.06 

Principal US High 
Conviction Equity 
Fund  

HSBCT 
0.06 

Principal Asia 
Pacific 
Renewables Fund 

HSBCT 
0.045 

Note: The Trustee Fee includes local custodian fee but excludes 
foreign sub-custodian fee (if any). Foreign sub-custodian fee is 
dependant on the country invested and is charged monthly in arrears. 
 
Note 1   The rates used for the computation of the annual 
Trustee Fee are as follows: 

Size of the Fund % p.a. of NAV of the Fund 

First MYR20 million 0.06 

Next MYR20 million 0.05 

Next MYR20 million 0.04 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Balanced 
Income Fund 

Note 1 0.01 

Principal 
Dynamic 
Enhanced 
Malaysia Income 
Fund 

0.08 

0.045 

Fixed Income Funds  

Principal 
Lifetime Bond 
Fund 

0.05 
0.03 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond 
Fund 

0.05 

0.03 

Regional & Global Funds  

Principal Asia 
Titans Fund 

0.035 
0.035 

Principal China-
India-Indonesia 
Opportunities 
Fund 

0.08 

0.045 

Principal Greater 
Bay Fund 

0.06 0.045 

Principal Asia 
Dynamic Bond 
Fund 

0.05 0.03 

Principal China 
Direct 
Opportunities 
Fund 

0.06 0.045 

Principal US 
High Conviction 
Equity Fund  

0.06 0.045 

Principal Asia 
Pacific 

0.045 0.045 
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Next MYR20 million 0.03 

Next MYR20 million 0.02 

Any amount in excess of 
MYR100 million 

0.01 

  
Below is an illustration on how the Trustee Fee is calculated: 
 
Trustee Fee for the day  =  NAV of the Fund x annual 
Trustee Fee rate for the Fund (%) / 365 days 
 
If the NAV of Fund is MYR500 million, then 
Trustee Fee for the day  =  MYR500 million x 0.05% per 
annum / 365 days 
                                       =  MYR684.93 
 
Note: In the event of a leap year, the computation will be based on 366 
calendar days.  
 

Renewables 
Fund 

 
Note: The Trustee Fee includes local custodian fee but excludes foreign 
sub-custodian fee (if any). Foreign sub-custodian fee is dependent on 
the country invested and is charged monthly in arrears. 
 
Note 1   The rates used for the computation of the annual 
Trustee Fee are as follows: 

 

Size of the Fund % p.a. of NAV of the Fund 

First MYR20 million 0.06 

Next MYR20 million 0.05 

Next MYR20 million 0.04 

Next MYR20 million 0.03 

Next MYR20 million 0.02 

Any amount in 
excess of MYR100 
million 

0.01 

  
Below is an illustration on how the Trustee Fee is calculated: 

 
Trustee Fee for the day  =  NAV of the Fund x annual 
Trustee Fee rate for the Fund (%) / 365 days 

 
If the NAV of the Fund is MYR500 million, then 

 
Trustee Fee for the day  =  MYR500 million x 0.05% per 
annum / 365 days 

                                     =  MYR684.93 
 

Note: In the event of a leap year, the computation will be based on 366 
calendar days. 

3.2./55 We adopt a single pricing method for any transactions (i.e. 
applications, withdrawals, switches and/or transfers) based on 
forward prices. This means that we will process your transactions 
request based on the NAV per unit at the next valuation point after 
we receive the completed relevant transaction forms from you.  
 
If the transactions are made by 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day, we will 
process the transactions using the NAV per unit for that Business Day. 

We adopt a single pricing method for any transactions (i.e. 
applications, withdrawals, switches and/or transfers) based on 
forward prices. This means that we will process your transactions 
request based on the NAV per unit at the next valuation point after 
we receive the completed relevant transaction forms from you.  

 
If the transactions are made by 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day, we will 
process the transactions using the NAV per unit for that Business Day. 
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For transactions made after 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day, we will 
process the transactions using the NAV per unit on the next Business 
Day. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The valuation point of the Funds for a Business Day will depend on 
whether the portfolio consists of foreign investments.  
 
  
For Funds without foreign investments: 
We will carry out the valuation for the Classes for a Business Day at 
the end of that Business Day (T day). The NAV per unit for a Business 
Day is available on our website at www.principal.com.my after 10:00 
a.m. on the following Business Day (T+1).  
 
For KLF: 
We will carry out the valuation for the Fund for a Business Day at the 
end of that Business Day (T day). The NAV per unit for a Business Day 
is available on our website at www.principal.com.my after 10:00 a.m. 
on the following Business Day (T+1).  
 
For Funds with foreign investments: 
We will carry out the valuation for the Classes for a Business Day on 
the next Business Day (T+1) by 4:00 p.m. This is to cater for the 
currency translation of the foreign securities or instruments to the 

by 
Bloomberg or Refinitiv at UK time 4:00 p.m. on the same day 
(Malaysian time 11:00 p.m. or 12:00 a.m.), or such other time as 
stipulated in the IMS. The NAV per unit for a Business Day is available 
on our website at www.principal.com.my after 5:30 p.m. on the 
following Business Day (T+1).  
 
Illustration (for Funds with foreign investments): 
 
For a transaction request received by us by 4:00 p.m. on a Business 
Day 

For transactions made after 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day, we will 
process the transactions using the NAV per unit on the next Business 
Day. 
 
For Class D 
If the transactions are made by 1:00 p.m. on a Business Day, we will 
process the transactions using the NAV per unit on that the same 
Business Day. For transactions made after 1:00 p.m. on a Business 
Day, we will process the transactions using the NAV per unit on the 
next Business Day. 
 
The valuation point of the Funds for a Business Day will depend on 
whether the portfolio consists of foreign investments.  

 
For Funds without foreign investments: 
We will carry out the valuation for the Classes for a Business Day at 
the end of that Business Day (T day). The NAV per unit for a Business 
Day is available on our website at www.principal.com.my after 10:00 
a.m. on the following Business Day (T+1).  

 
For KLF: 
We will carry out the valuation for the Fund for a Business Day at the 
end of that Business Day (T day). The NAV per unit for a Business Day 
is available on our website at www.principal.com.my after 10:00 a.m. 
on the following Business Day (T+1).  
 
For Funds with foreign investments: 
We will carry out the valuation for the Classes for a Business Day on 
the next Business Day (T+1) by 4:00 p.m. This is to cater for the 
currency translation of the foreign securities or instruments to the 

 quoted by 
Bloomberg or Refinitiv at UK time 4:00 p.m. on the same day 
(Malaysian time 11:00 p.m. or 12:00 a.m.), or such other time as 
stipulated in the IMS. The NAV per unit for a Business Day is available 
on our website at www.principal.com.my after 5:30 p.m. on the 
following Business Day (T+1).  

 
Illustration (for Funds with foreign investments): 

 
For a transaction request received by us by 4:00 p.m. on a Business 
Day 

http://www/
http://www/
http://www/
http://www/
http://www/
http://www/
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At the end of the Business Day on 20 September 2022, your units will 
be based on the NAV per unit on 20 September 2022, which will be 
calculated on 21 September 2022. The NAV per unit will be available 
on our website after 5:30 p.m. on 21 September 2022.  
 
For a transaction request received by us after 4:00 p.m. on a Business 
Day 
At the end of the Business Day on 20 September 2022, your units will 
be based on the NAV per unit on 21 September 2022, which will be 
calculated on 22 September 2022. The NAV per unit will be available 
on our website after 5:30 p.m. on 22 September 2022.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Each Fund must be valued at least once for every Business Day except 
during the initial offer period. The method of determining NAV per 
unit is calculated as follows: 
 
NAV per unit of the Class =          NAV of the Class 
        Number of units in issue of the Class 
 
For KLF: 
NAV per unit of the Fund =                  NAV of the Fund  
                 Number of units in issue of the Fund 
 
The NAV of the Fund is the sum of the value of all investments and 
cash held by the Fund (calculated in accordance with the Deeds) 

At the end of the Business Day on 26 April 2023, your units will be 
based on the NAV per unit on 26 April 2023, which will be calculated 
on 27 April 2023. The NAV per unit will be available on our website 
after 5:30 p.m. on 27 April 2023. 
 
 
For a transaction request received by us after 4:00 p.m. on a Business 
Day 
At the end of the Business Day on 26 April 2023, your units will be 
based on the NAV per unit on 27 April 2023, which will be calculated 
on 28 April 2023. The NAV per unit will be available on our website 
after 5:30 p.m. on 28 April 2023.  

 
 

Illustration for Class D (with foreign investment): 
 

For transaction request received by us by 1:00 p.m. on a Business Day 
At the end of the Business Day on 26 April 2023, your units will be 
based on the NAV per unit on 26 April 2023, which will be calculated 
on 27 April 2023. The NAV per unit will be made known on our website 
after 5:30 p.m. on 27 April 2023.  

 
For transaction request received by us after 1:00 p.m. on a Business 
Day 
At the end of the Business Day on 26 April 2023, your units will be 
based on the NAV per unit on 27 April 2023, which will be calculated 
on 28 April 2023. The NAV per unit will be made known on our website 
after 5:30 p.m. on 28 April 2023.  
 
Each Fund must be valued at least once for every Business Day except 
during the initial offer period. The method of determining NAV per 
unit is calculated as follows: 

 
NAV per unit of the Class =          NAV of the Class 

                            Number of units in issue of the Class 
 
For KLF: 
NAV per unit of the Fund =         NAV of the Fund 
                                             Number of units in issue of the Fund 
 
The NAV of the Fund is the sum of the value of all investments and 
cash held by the Fund (calculated in accordance with the Deeds) 
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including income derived by the Fund which has not been distributed 
to our Unit holders, less all amounts owing or payable in respect of 
the Fund including any provisions that we and the Trustees consider 
should be made. For example, a provision may be made for possible 
future losses on an investment which cannot be fairly determined. 
 
The valuation of the Fund is in the base currency. The NAV per unit of 
each Class/Fund* will be the NAV of the Fund attributable for each 
Class/Fund* divided by the number of units in circulation of that 
Class/Fund*, at the same valuation point. 
Note * : For KLF 
 

including income derived by the Fund which has not been distributed 
to our Unit holders, less all amounts owing or payable in respect of 
the Fund including any provisions that we and the Trustees consider 
should be made. For example, a provision may be made for possible 
future losses on an investment which cannot be fairly determined. 

 
The valuation of the Fund is in the base currency. The NAV per unit of 
each Class/Fund* will be the NAV of the Fund attributable for each 
Class/Fund* divided by the number of units in circulation of that 
Class/Fund*, at the same valuation point. 
Note * : For KLF 

 
 

3.2.2/57-58 Assuming you request for a 10,000.00 units withdrawal. Your 
withdrawal request is received by 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day. NAV per 
unit of Class XYZ for that Business Day is MYR0.5230 (truncated to 4 
decimal places). 
 
 
Calculation of amount payable to you 
= Number of units withdrawn x  NAV per unit of Class XYZ 
= 10,000.00 units x MYR0.5230 
= MYR5,230.00 
 

Assuming you request for a 10,000.00 units withdrawal. Your 
withdrawal request is received by us by 4:00 p.m. or 1:00 p.m. (for Class 
D) on a Business Day. NAV per unit of Class XYZ for that Business Day 
is MYR0.5230 (truncated to 4 decimal places). 

 
Calculation of amount payable to you 
= Number of units withdrawn x NAV per unit of Class XYZ 
= 10,000.00 units x MYR0.5230 
= MYR5,230.00 
 

3.4.1./58 You are eligible to invest in the Funds if you are: 
▪ an individual who is at least eighteen (18) years of age and are 

not an undischarged bankrupt with a bank account (or foreign 
currency bank account, as the case may be) in the currency of the 
Class applied for (e.g. Class USD investors are required to have a 
USD bank account). As an individual investor, you may also opt 
to invest in joint names (i.e. as a joint Unit holder and both 
applicants must be at least eighteen (18) years of age). 

▪ an institution including a company, corporation, co-operative, 
trust or pension fund with a bank account (or foreign currency 
bank account, as the case may be) in the currency of the Class 
applied for (e.g. Class USD investors are required to have a USD 
bank account).  

 

You are eligible to invest in the Funds if you are: 
▪ an individual who is at least eighteen (18) years of age and are not 

an undischarged bankrupt with a bank account (or foreign 
currency bank account, as the case may be) in the currency of the 
Class applied for (e.g. Class USD investors are required to have a 
USD bank account). As an individual investor, you may also opt to 
invest in joint names (i.e. as a joint Unit holder and both applicants 
must be at least eighteen (18) years of age). 

▪ an institution including a company, corporation, co-operative, 
trust or pension fund with a bank account (or foreign currency 
bank account, as the case may be) in the currency of the Class 
applied for (e.g. Class USD investors are required to have a USD 
bank account).  

▪ For Class D, you must be an individual who is at least eighteen (18) 
years of age and have an account in the e-Wallet App and fulfil the 
requirements therein.  
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3.4.2. / 58 1st paragraph 
You may invest through any of our 
office or such other method as we may advise from time to time after 
completing the relevant application forms and attaching a copy of 
your identity card, passport or any other identification document 
(where applicable). We may request for additional supporting 
document(s) or information from you. Your application should 
indicate clearly the amount you wish to invest in the Fund. We may 
introduce other mode of investment from time to time, subject to the 
approval of the relevant authorities. 
 
 
 
1st bullet point of 2nd Paragraph 
▪ 

payable as advised by us or our Distributors as the case may be). 
You will have to bear the applicable bank fees and charges, if any; 
or   

 

1st paragraph 

office, e-Wallet App or such other method as we may advise from time 
to time after completing the relevant application forms and attaching 
a copy of your identity card, passport or any other identification 
document (where applicable). We may request for additional 
supporting document(s) or information from you. Your application 
should indicate clearly the amount you wish to invest in the Fund. We 
may introduce other mode of investment from time to time, subject 
to the approval of the relevant authorities. 
 
 
 
1st bullet point of 2nd Paragraph 
▪ by crossed cheque  (made payable 

as advised by us or our Distributors as the case may be). You will 
have to bear the applicable bank fees and charges, if any; or 

 

3.4.4./59 We may register units in the name of more than one (1) Unit holder 
but we have the discretion not to allow registration of more than two 
(2) joint Unit holders. All applicants must be at least eighteen (18) 
years of age.  
 

In the event of the demise of a joint Unit holder, whether Muslim or 
non-Muslim, only the surviving joint Unit holder will be recognized by 
the Trustee and the Manager as having ownership to such unit. The 
Manager or Trustee may require such necessary evidence proving the 
death of the Unit holder. His/her Units will be dealt with in 
accordance with the Deed and applicable laws and regulations. 
 

We may register units in the name of more than one (1) Unit holder 
but we have the discretion not to allow registration of more than two 
(2) joint Unit holders; joint account is not available for Class D. All 
applicants must be at least eighteen (18) years of age.  

 
In the event of the demise of a joint Unit holder, whether Muslim or 
non-Muslim, only the surviving joint Unit holder will be recognized by 
the Trustee and the Manager as having ownership to such unit. The 
Manager or Trustee may require such necessary evidence proving the 
death of the Unit holder. His/her units will be dealt with in accordance 
with the Deed and applicable laws and regulations. 
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3.5./59-60 

 
 

Class 

Minimum  
initial 

investme
nt#  

Minimu
m 

additio
nal 

invest
ment#  

Regular Savings 
Plan (RSP) 

Mini
mum 
initial 
invest
ment#  

Minimu
m 

addition
al 

investm
ent#  

 

 Note: The currency 
denomination of the 

investment will be based on 
the respective Class of the 

Funds. 

Equity Funds 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Titans 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportuniti
es Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Opportuniti
es Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Titans 
Growth & 
Income 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Titans 
Income 
Plus Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Small Cap 
Opportuniti
es Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Funds 
Clas

s 

Minimu
m  

initial 
investm

ent#  

Minimu
m 

addition
al 

investm
ent#  

Regular Savings 
Plan (RSP) 

Minimu
m 

initial 
invest
ment#  

Minimu
m 

additio
nal 

invest
ment#  

 
 Note: The currency denomination of 

the investment will be based on the 
respective Class of the Funds. 

Equity Funds 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Titans 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

D 
10 

10 500 500 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Enhance
d 
Opportu
nities 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Malaysia 
Opportu
nities 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Titans 
Growth 
& Income 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Titans 
Income 
Plus 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

D 10 10 500 500 

Principal 
Small 
Cap 

MYR 
500 200 500 200 
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Principal 
KLCI-
Linked 
Fund* 

N/A 

500 200 500 200 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Balanced 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Dynamic 
Enhanced 
Malaysia 
Income 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

Fixed Income Funds 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Bond Fund 

MYR 
2,000 500 2,000 500 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Enhanced 
Bond Fund 

MYR 

2,000 500 2,000 500 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal 
Asia Titans 
Fund 

MYR 
500 200 500 200 

Principal 
China-
India-
Indonesia 
Opportuniti
es Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

Opportu
nities 
Fund 

Principal 
KLCI-
Linked 
Fund* 

N/A 

500 200 500 200 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Balanced 
Fund 

MYR 

500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

D 10 10 500 500 

Principal 
Dynamic 
Enhance
d 
Malaysia 
Income 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

Fixed Income Funds 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Bond 
Fund 

MYR 2,000 500 2,000 500 

D 10 10 500 500 

Principal 
Lifetime 
Enhance
d Bond 
Fund 

MYR 

2,000 500 2,000 500 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal 
Asia 
Titans 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

D 10 10 500 500 
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Principal 
Greater 
Bay Fund 

AUD-
Hedged 

1,000 100 N/A N/A 

MYR-
Hedged 

1,000 100 N/A N/A 

SGD-
Hedged 

1,000 100 N/A N/A 

USD 1,000 100 N/A N/A 

Principal 
Asia 
Dynamic 
Bond Fund 

MYR 

1,000 100 1,000 100 

Principal 
China 
Direct 
Opportuniti
es Fund 

MYR 1,000 100 1,000 100 

SGD 1,000 100 N/A N/A 

USD 1,000 100 N/A N/A 

Principal 
US High 
Conviction 
Equity 
Fund  

MYR 100 100 100 100 

MYR-
Hedged 

100 100 100 100 

SGD 100 100 N/A N/A 

USD 100 100 N/A N/A 

Principal 
Asia Pacific 
Renewable
s Fund 

AUD-
Hedged 

100 100 N/A N/A 

MYR-
Hedged 

100 100 100 100 

SGD-
Hedged 

100 100 N/A N/A 

USD 100 100 N/A N/A 
 

Principal 
China-
India-
Indonesi
a 
Opportu
nities 
Fund 

MYR 500 200 500 200 

Principal 
Greater 
Bay Fund 

AUD
-

Hed
ged 

1,000 100 N/A N/A 

MYR
-

Hed
ged 

1,000 100 N/A N/A 

SGD
-

Hed
ged 

1,000 100 N/A N/A 

USD 1,000 100 N/A N/A 

Principal 
Asia 
Dynamic 
Bond 
Fund 

MYR 

1,000 100 1,000 100 

Principal 
China 
Direct 
Opportu
nities 
Fund 

MYR 1,000 100 1,000 100 

SGD 1,000 100 N/A N/A 

USD 
1,000 100 N/A N/A 

Principal 
US High 
Convictio
n Equity 
Fund  

MYR 100 100 100 100 

MYR
-

Hed
ged 

100 100 100 100 

SGD 100 100 N/A N/A 
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USD 100 100 N/A N/A 

Principal 
Asia 
Pacific 
Renewab
les Fund 

AUD
-

Hed
ged 

100 100 N/A N/A 

MYR
-

Hed
ged 

100 100 100 100 

SGD
-

Hed
ged 

100 100 N/A N/A 

USD 100 100 N/A N/A 
 

3.5.1./60 If we receive and accepted a complete application by 4:00 p.m. on a 
Business Day, we will process it using the NAV per unit for that 
Business Day. If we receive and accepted the application after 4:00 
p.m. on a Business Day, we will process it using the NAV per unit for 
the next Business Day. We will only process complete applications, 
i.e. when we have received all the necessary and required information 
and/or documentations. The number of units you receive will be 
rounded to two (2) decimal places. 
 

If we receive and accepted a complete application by 4:00 p.m. or 1:00 
p.m. (for Class D) on a Business Day, we will process it using the NAV 
per unit for that Business Day. If we receive and accepted the 
application after 4:00 pm. or 1:00 p.m. (for Class D) on a Business Day, 
we will process it using the NAV per unit for the next Business Day. 
We will only process complete applications, i.e. when we have 
received all the necessary and required information and/or 
documentations. The number of units you receive will be rounded to 
two (2) decimal places. 

 
For transaction through e-Wallet App, the processing of your 
application request is subject to you providing all required information 
to us through the e-Wallet App and the transfer of monies into the 

cess in the e-
Wallet App by you or non-receipt of the application request by us will 
cause the application request to be cancelled automatically. We will 
pay back your monies on next Business Day on a best effort basis, 
subject to system availability. If you wish to re-apply, you will have to 
re-initiate the application process through the e-Wallet App. 
 

3.6./61-62 The minimum withdrawals and minimum balance for the each Class 
are stipulated in the table below, unless you are withdrawing your 
entire investment. You may withdraw by completing a withdrawal 
application and submit to the relevant Distributor, Principal 

The minimum withdrawals and minimum balance for each Class are 
stipulated in the table below, unless you are withdrawing your entire 
investment. You may withdraw by completing a withdrawal 
application and submit to the relevant Distributor, Principal Malay
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There is no 
restriction on the frequency of withdrawals.  We will transfer the 
withdrawal proceeds to the bank account number provided by you. 
Please note that for EPF-MIS, your withdrawal proceeds will be paid 
to EPF.  
 

 Class 

Minimum 
withdrawal  

(units) 

Minimum 
balance   

(units) 

Equity Funds 

Principal Malaysia 
Titans Fund 

MYR 
200 250 

Principal Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
400 500 

Principal Malaysia 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
400 500 

Principal Titans 
Growth &  Income 
Fund 

MYR 
200 250 

Principal Titans 
Income Plus Fund 

MYR 
200 250 

Principal Small Cap 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
400 500 

Principal KLCI-
Linked Fund* 

N/A 
400 250 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

MYR 
400 500 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income 
Fund 

MYR 
200 250 

Principal Dynamic 
Enhanced Malaysia 
Income Fund 

MYR 
400 500 

office, e-Wallet App or such other channel (where available). There is 
no restriction on the frequency of withdrawals. We will transfer the 
withdrawal proceeds to the bank account number provided by you or 
through e-wallet with the e-Wallet Provider (where available). Please 
note that for EPF-MIS, your withdrawal proceeds will be paid to EPF. 

 

Funds Class 
Minimum 

withdrawal  
Minimum 
balance   

Equity Funds 

Principal Malaysia 
Titans Fund 

MYR 200 units 250 units 

D MYR 10 10 units  

Principal Malaysia 
Enhanced 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
400 units 500 units 

Principal Malaysia 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
400 units 500 units 

Principal Titans 
Growth & Income 
Fund 

MYR 
200 units 250 units 

Principal Titans 
Income Plus Fund 

MYR 200 units 250 units 

D MYR 10 10 units  

Principal Small Cap 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
400 units 500 units 

Principal KLCI-Linked 
Fund* 

N/A 
400 units 250 units 

Mixed Asset Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund 

MYR 
400 units 500 units 

Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Income 
Fund 

MYR 200 units 250 units 

D MYR 10 10 units  

Principal Dynamic 
Enhanced Malaysia 
Income Fund 

MYR 
400 units 500 units 
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Fixed Income Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Bond Fund 

MYR 
500 1,000 

Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond 
Fund 

MYR 
500 1,000 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal Asia Titans 
Fund 

MYR 
400 500 

Principal China-
India-Indonesia 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
500 1,000 

Principal Greater 
Bay Fund 

AUD-
Hedge

d 
100 1,000 

MYR-
Hedge

d 
100 1,000 

SGD-
Hedge

d 
100 1,000 

USD 100 1,000 

Principal Asia 
Dynamic Bond 
Fund 

MYR 
100 1,000 

Principal China 
Direct 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 100 1,000 

SGD 100 1,000 

USD 100 1,000 

Principal US High 
Conviction Equity 
Fund  

MYR 100 100 

MYR-
Hedge

d 
100 100 

SGD 100 100 

Fixed Income Funds 

Principal Lifetime 
Bond Fund 

MYR 500 units 1,000 units 

D MYR 10 10 units  

Principal Lifetime 
Enhanced Bond Fund 

MYR 
500 units 1,000 units 

Regional & Global Funds 

Principal Asia Titans 
Fund 

MYR 400 units 500 units 

D MYR 10 10 units  

Principal China-India-
Indonesia 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 
500 units 1,000 units 

Principal Greater Bay 
Fund 

AUD-
Hedge

d 
100 units 1,000 units 

MYR-
Hedge

d 
100 units 1,000 units 

SGD-
Hedge

d 
100 units 1,000 units 

USD 100 units 1,000 units 

Principal Asia 
Dynamic Bond Fund 

MYR 100 units 1,000 units 

Principal China Direct 
Opportunities Fund 

MYR 100 units 1,000 units 

SGD 100 units 1,000 units 

USD 100 units 1,000 units 

Principal US High 
Conviction Equity 
Fund  

MYR 100 units 100 units 

MYR-
Hedge

d 
100 units 100 units 

SGD 100 units 100 units 

USD 100 units 100 units 
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USD 100 100 

Principal Asia 
Pacific Renewables 
Fund 

AUD-
Hedge

d 
100 100 

MYR-
Hedge

d 
100 100 

SGD-
Hedge

d 
100 100 

USD 100 100 

 
Note: 
▪ There is no exit and re-entry option. 
▪ Withdrawal is subject to the minimum balance being maintained.   
▪ We reserve our sole and absolute discretion without providing any 

reason whatsoever and at any time to accept, reject, amend, vary, 
waive and/or reduce (as the case maybe): (i) your request for a 
lower amount or number of units when purchasing units (or 
additional units) or withdrawing units; and/or (ii) the minimum 
balance. For increase in the number of units for minimum 
withdrawal and minimum balance, we will require concurrence 
from the Trustee and you will be notified of such changes. 

▪ We may for any reason and at any time, waive or reduce: (a) any 
fees (except for the Trustee Fee); (b) other charges payable by you 
to the Funds; and/or (c) transactional values including but not 
limited to the units or amount, for any Unit holder and/or 
investments made via any distribution channels or platform. 

*  KLF is not a multi-class fund and is denominated in Ringgit Malaysia. 
 

Principal Asia Pacific 
Renewables Fund 

AUD-
Hedge

d 
100 units 100 units 

MYR-
Hedge

d 
100 units 100 units 

SGD-
Hedge

d 
100 units 100 units 

USD 100 units 100 units 

 
Notes: 
▪ There is no exit and re-entry option. 
▪ Withdrawal is subject to the minimum balance being maintained.   
▪ If the balance (i.e. number of units) of your investment drops below 

the minimum balance stipulated above, further investment will be 
required until the balance of the investment is restored to at least 
the stipulated minimum balance. Otherwise, we can withdraw your 
entire investment and forward the proceeds to you. 

▪ We reserve our sole and absolute discretion without providing any 
reason whatsoever and at any time to accept, reject, amend, vary, 
waive and/or reduce (as the case maybe): (i) your request for a 
lower amount or number of units when purchasing units (or 
additional units) or withdrawing units; and/or (ii) the minimum 
balance. For increase in the number of units for minimum 
withdrawal and minimum balance, we will require concurrence 
from the Trustee and you will be notified of such changes. 

▪ We may for any reason and at any time, waive or reduce: (a) any 
fees (except for the Trustee Fee); (b) other charges payable by you 
to the Funds; and/or (c) transactional values including but not 
limited to the units or amount, for any Unit holder and/or 
investments made via any distribution channels or platform. 

*  KLF is not a multi-class fund and is denominated in Ringgit Malaysia. 
 

3.6.1./62 If we receive a complete withdrawal request by 4:00 p.m. on a 
Business Day, we will process it using the NAV per unit for that 
Business Day. If we receive the withdrawal request after 4:00 p.m. on 
a Business Day, we will process using the NAV per unit for the next 
Business Day (T+1). 
 

If we receive a complete withdrawal request by 4:00 p.m. or 1:00 p.m. 
(for Class D) on a Business Day, we will process it using the NAV per 
unit for that Business Day. If we receive the withdrawal request after 
4:00 p.m. or 1:00 p.m. (for Class D) on a Business Day, we will process 
using the NAV per unit for the next Business Day (T+1). 
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The amount that you will receive is calculated by the withdrawal 
value less the Withdrawal Fee, if any. You will be paid in the currency 
of the Class (e.g. Class MYR will be paid in MYR) within seven (7) 
Business Days of upon our receipt of the complete withdrawal 
request.  You will have to bear the applicable bank fees and charges, 
if any. If the balance (i.e. number of units) of your investment drops 
below the minimum balance stipulated above, further investment will 
be required until the balance of the investment is at least the 
stipulated minimum balance.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For OP-SCO withdrawal amount is fifteen percent 
(15%) or more of the total NAV of the Fund for a Business Day, we 
will pay to you within fifteen (15) calendar days from the day we 
receive the withdrawal 

Error! Bookmark not defined.. 
 
Applicable for GBAY & OP-CDO only 
Currently, repatriations of funds out of China by open-ended funds 
are not subjected to repatriation restrictions. However, there is no 
guarantee that repatriation restrictions will not be imposed in the 
future. Investors should note that should there be restrictions 
imposed on repatriation of funds out of China, it may impact the 

 
 

The amount that you will receive is calculated by the withdrawal value 
less the Withdrawal Fee, if any. You will be paid in the currency of the 
Class (e.g. Class MYR will be paid in MYR) within seven (7) Business 
Days upon our receipt of the complete withdrawal request. You will 
have to bear the applicable bank fees and charges, if any. If the 
balance (i.e. number of units) of your investment drops below the 
minimum balance stipulated above, further investment will be 
required until the balance of the investment is at least the stipulated 
minimum balance.  
 

 
For more information on Class D, you may refer to the frequently 
asked questions and terms and conditions which are available on the 
e-Wallet App. Alternatively, you may contact our Customer Care 

-Wallet 
Provider to understand the service and their terms and conditions. 

 
For OP-SCO
(15%) or more of the total NAV of the Fund for a Business Day, we will 
pay to you within fifteen (15) calendar days from the day we receive 

ovals and 
 

 
Applicable for GBAY & OP-CDO only 
Currently, repatriations of funds out of China by open-ended funds are 
not subjected to repatriation restrictions. However, there is no 
guarantee that repatriation restrictions will not be imposed in the 
future. Investors should note that should there be restrictions 
imposed on repatriation of funds out of China, it may impact the 

 

3.7./62 For first time individual investor investing with us, you have six (6) 
Business Days after your initial investment (i.e. from the date the 
completed application is received and accepted by us or any of our 
Distributors) to reconsider its appropriateness and suitability for your 
investment needs. Within this period, you may withdraw your 
investment at the same NAV per unit when the units were purchased 
or prevailing NAV per unit at the point of cooling-off (whichever is 

the Refund Amount including 
the Application Fee (if any) to you in the currency of the respective 
Class within seven (7) Business Days from the date we receive the 
complete documentations. Please note that the cooling-off right is 

For first time individual investor investing with us, you have six (6) 
Business Days after your initial investment (i.e. from the date the 
completed application is received and accepted by us or any of our 
Distributors) to reconsider its appropriateness and suitability for your 
investment needs. Within this period, you may withdraw your 
investment at the same NAV per unit when the units were purchased 
or prevailing NAV per unit at the point of cooling-off (whichever is 

the Refund Amount including 
the Application Fee (if any) to you in the currency of the respective 
Class within seven (7) Business Days from the date we receive the 
complete documentations. Please note that the cooling-off right is 
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only given to first time investor investing with us or our Distributors. 
with a 

body approved by the SC to deal in unit trust funds are not entitled to 
the cooling-off right.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
If the Fund is an EPF-MIS approved fund and you have invested via 
EPF-MIS, your cooling-
conditions. 
 

only given to first time investor investing with us or our Distributors. 

body approved by the SC to deal in unit trust funds are not entitled to 
the cooling-off right.  

 
For transaction through e-Wallet App, cooling-off right is not 
applicable if you have withdrawn all or parts of your investment from 
Class D either to your e-Wallet or your bank account. Request for 
cooling-off can be made directly through Principal Malaysia and/or 
through the e-Wallet App (where available). 

 
If the Fund is an EPF-MIS approved fund and you have invested via 
EPF-MIS, your cooling-
conditions. 
 

3.8./62 To switch, simply complete a switch application and send to our 

Currently, there is no restriction on the frequency of switches. You 
may negotiate to lower the amount for your switch with us or our 
Distributors. However, we have the discretion to allow or to reject any 
switching into (or out of) a Fund or Class and other Principal 

 
 

To switch, simply complete a switch application and send to our 
Distributors, our -Wallet App (where 
available), or such other channel. Currently, there is no restriction on 
the frequency of switches. However, we have the discretion to allow 
or to reject any switching into (or out of) the Fund or Class, either 
generally (for all investors) or specifically (for any particular investor, 
a group of investors or investments made via any digital platform).  

 
For more information on Class D, you may refer to the frequently 
asked questions and terms and conditions which are available on the 
e-Wallet App. Alternatively, you may contact our Customer Care 

-Wallet 
Provider to understand the service and their terms and conditions. 
 

3.8.1./63 Where available, we process a switch as a withdrawal from one fund 
or class and an investment into another fund or class within Principal 

on a Business Day, the switch-out will be processed using the NAV per 
unit of the Class/Fund for that Business Day. If we receive the request 
after 4:00 p.m. on a Business Day, the switch-out will be processed 
using the NAV per unit of the Class/Fund for the next Business Day.   
  
However, you should note that switch-in may be processed at a later 
Business Day, generally within one (1) to four (4) Business Days.  
 

Where available, we process a switch as a withdrawal from one fund 
or class and an investment into another fund or class within Principal 

or 1:00 p.m. (for Class D) on a Business Day, the switch-out will be 
processed using the NAV per unit of the Class/Fund for that Business 
Day. If we receive the request after 4:00 p.m. or 1:00 p.m. (for Class D) 
on a Business Day, the switch-out will be processed using the NAV per 
unit of the Class/Fund for the next Business Day.   

  
However, you should note that switch-in may be processed at a later 
Business Day, generally within one (1) to four (4) Business Days. 
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4.2./65 We will send you the following 
▪ Your Principal Malaysia investor account number; 
▪ Confirmation on all your transactions and distributions (if any); 
▪ Confirmation on any changes to your address if you have 

written to us to make the changes; 
▪ Quarterly statement showing details of your transactions and 

distributions (if any); and 
▪ Interim and audited annual report showing snapshots of the 

Fund and details of the portfolio for the respective period 
reported. Both the interim report and the audited annual report 
will be sent to you within two (2) months of the end of the 
period reported. 

 

We will send you the following: 
▪ Your Principal Malaysia investor account number; 
▪ Confirmation on all your transactions and distributions (if any); 
▪ Confirmation on any changes to your address if you have written 

to us to make the changes; 
▪ Quarterly statement showing details of your transactions and 

distributions (if any);  
▪ For Class D, monthly statement showing details of your 

transactions and distributions (if any); and 
▪ Interim and audited annual report showing snapshots of the Fund 

and details of the portfolio for the respective period reported. 
Both the interim report and the audited annual report will be sent 
to you within two (2) months of the end of the period reported.  

 

4.3/66  Deeds 

Equity Funds 

• Master Deed dated 15 May 2008 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 25 June 
2008 

• Second Supplemental Master Deed dated 
25 June 2008 

• Third Supplemental Master Deed dated 14 
July 2008 

• Fourth Supplemental Master Deed dated 
18 March 2009 

• Fifth Supplemental Master Deed dated 16 
July 2009 

• Sixth Supplemental Master Deed dated 16 
December 2009 

• Seventh Supplemental Master Deed dated 
11 February 2010 

• Eighth Supplemental Master Deed dated 
14 June 2010 

• Ninth Supplemental Master Deed dated 25 
November 2010 

• Thirteenth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 26 June 2012 

• Fourteenth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 21 September 2012  

• Eighteenth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 25 March 2015. 

Mixed Asset 
Funds 

Fixed Income 
Funds 

Regional & 
Global Funds 

 Deeds 

Equity 
Funds 

• Master Deed dated 15 May 2008 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 25 June 2008 

• Second Supplemental Master Deed dated 25 
June 2008 

• Third Supplemental Master Deed dated 14 July 
2008 

• Fourth Supplemental Master Deed dated 18 
March 2009 

• Fifth Supplemental Master Deed dated 16 July 
2009 

• Sixth Supplemental Master Deed dated 16 
December 2009 

• Seventh Supplemental Master Deed dated 11 
February 2010 

• Eighth Supplemental Master Deed dated 14 
June 2010 

• Ninth Supplemental Master Deed dated 25 
November 2010 

• Thirteenth Supplemental Master Deed dated 26 
June 2012 

• Fourteenth Supplemental Master Deed dated 
21 September 2012  

• Eighteenth Supplemental Master Deed dated 
25 March 2015. 

Mixed 
Asset 
Funds 

Fixed 
Income 
Funds 

Regional 
& Global 

Funds 
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• Nineteenth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 11 May 2016. 

• Twentieth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 21 October 2019 

• Twenty Third Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 27 June 2022 

• Twenty Fourth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 13 January 2023 

 
For KLF: 

• Master Deed Constituting Index Funds 
dated 30 November 2007 

• First Supplemental Master Deed dated 25 
June 2008 

• Second Supplemental Master Deed dated 
14 July 2008 

• Third Supplemental Deed dated 16 July 
2009  

• Fourth Supplemental Deed dated 26 July 
2013  

• Fifth Supplemental Deed dated 23 March 
2015.  

• Sixth Supplemental Deed dated 21 
October 2019.  

• Seventh Supplemental Deed dated 13 
January 2023 

 
For GBAY: 

• Master Deed dated 28 August 2019 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 

 
For DY-ADB: 

• Master Deed dated 29 May 2017 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 7 
November 2019 

• Second Supplemental Deed dated 10 
January 2023 
 

For OP-CDO: 

• Nineteenth Supplemental Master Deed dated 
11 May 2016. 

• Twentieth Supplemental Master Deed dated 21 
October 2019 

• Twenty Third Supplemental Master Deed dated 
27 June 2022 

• Twenty Fourth Supplemental Master Deed 
dated 13 January 2023 

• Twenty Fifth Supplemental Master Deed dated 
26 May 2023 

 
For KLF: 

• Master Deed Constituting Index Funds dated 30 
November 2007 

• First Supplemental Master Deed dated 25 June 
2008 

• Second Supplemental Master Deed dated 14 
July 2008 

• Third Supplemental Deed dated 16 July 2009  

• Fourth Supplemental Deed dated 26 July 2013  

• Fifth Supplemental Deed dated 23 March 2015.  

• Sixth Supplemental Deed dated 21 October 
2019.  

• Seventh Supplemental Deed dated 13 January 
2023 

 
For GBAY: 

• Master Deed dated 28 August 2019 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 

 
For DY-ADB: 

• Master Deed dated 29 May 2017 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 7 November 
2019 

• Second Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 
 

For OP-CDO: 

• Master Deed dated 22 January 2018 
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• Master Deed dated 22 January 2018 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 7 
November 2019 

• Second Supplemental Deed dated 10 
January 2023 

 
For UHCE: 

• Master Deed dated 20 August 2021 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 

 
For APRF: 

• Master Deed dated 25 November 2021 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 

 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 7 November 
2019 

• Second Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 

 
For UHCE: 

• Master Deed dated 20 August 2021 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 

 
For APRF: 

• Master Deed dated 25 November 2021 

• First Supplemental Deed dated 10 January 
2023 
 

 

4.6./67 Six paragraph 
 
Distributor may be our related party. We will ensure that any 
arrangement made will be at  
 

Six paragraph 
 
E-Wallet Provider and Distributor may be our related party. We will 
ensure that any arrangement made with the e-Wallet Provider and 

 

9/75-79 9.1. ROLES, DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF 
THE TRUSTEES 

 

the assets of the Funds and to safeguard the interests of the Unit 
holders of the Funds. They shall: 
▪ act in accordance with the provisions of the Deeds, the CMSA and 

the GUTF; 
▪ take into its custody the investments of the Funds and hold the 

investments in trust for the Unit holders; 
▪ ensure that the Manager operates and administers the Funds in 

accordance with the provisions of the Deeds, the CMSA, the 
GUTF and acceptable business practice within the unit trust 
industry; 

▪ ensure that it is fully informed of the investment policies of the 
Funds and of any changes made thereto, and if it is of the opinion 
that the policies are not in the interests of the Unit holders, it 
shall instruct the Manager to take appropriate action as the 

the purpose of giving such instructions to the Manager as the 
meeting thinks proper; 

HSBC (Malaysia) Trustee Berhad is a company incorporated in 
Malaysia since 1937 and registered as a trust company under the Trust 
Companies Act 1949, with its registered address at Level 19, Menara 
IQ, Lingkaran TRX, 55188 Tun Razak Exchange, Kuala Lumpur. 

 
Since 1993, the Trustee has acquired experience in the administration 
of unit trusts and has been appointed as trustee for unit trust funds, 
exchange traded funds, wholesale funds and funds under private 
retirement scheme. 

 

Duties and Responsibilities of the Trustee 

the assets of the Fund and to safeguard the interests of Unit holders 
of the Fund. In performing these functions, the Trustee has to exercise 
all due care, diligence and vigilance and is required to act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Deed, the CMSA and the GUTF. 

also responsible for ensuring that the Manager performs its duties and 
obligations in accordance with the provisions of the Deed, the CMSA 
and the GUTF. In respect of monies paid by an investor for the 
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▪ as soon as practicable notify the SC of any irregularity or an 
actual or anticipated material breach of the provisions of the 

opinion may indicate that the interests of Unit holders are not 
being served; 

▪ exercise due care, skill, diligence and vigilance in carrying out its 
functions and duties in actively monitoring the administration of 
the Funds by the Manager and in safeguarding the interests of 
Unit holders; 

▪ maintain, or cause the Manager to maintain, proper accounting 
and other records in relation to those rights and interests, and of 
all transactions effected by the Manager on account of the 
Funds; and 

▪ cause those accounts to be audited at least annually by an 
approved company auditor appointed by the Trustees and send 
or cause those accounts to be sent to Unit holders within two (2) 
months of the relevant accounting period. 

 

9.2. 
RESPONSIBILITY 

 
The respective Trustees have agreed to assume the position of 
Trustee of the respective Funds and all the obligations in accordance 
with the respective Deeds, all relevant laws and rules of law. The 
respective Trustees shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the 
respective Funds against all losses, damages or expenses incurred by 
the Trustees in performing any of its duties or exercising any of its 
powers under the respective Deeds in relation to the Funds. The right 
to indemnity shall not extend to loss occasioned by breach of trust, 
wilful default, negligence, fraud or failure to show the degree of care 
and diligence required of the Trustees having regard to the provisions 
of the respective Deeds.   
 
 

9.3. EXEMPTIONS AND VARIATIONS 
 
There have been no exemptions or variations from any relevant 
securities laws or the GUTF granted to the Trustees by the SC. 
 

9.4. ABOUT AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD 
 

monies are received in the relevant account of the Trustee for the 

discharged once it has paid the redemption amount to the Manager. 
 

The Trustee has in place anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism 
financing policies and procedures across the HSBC Group, which may 
exceed local regulations. Subject to any local regulations, the Trustee 
shall not be liable for any loss resulting from compliance of such 
policies, except in the case of negligence, wilful default or fraud of the 
Trustee. 

 
The Trustee is not liable for doing or failing to do any act for the 
purpose of complying with law, regulation or court orders. 

 
The Trustee shall be entitled to process, transfer, release and disclose 
from time to time any information relating to the Fund, Manager and 
Unit holders (including personal data of the Unit holders, where 
applicable) for the purposes of performing its duties and obligations 
in accordance to the Deed, the CMSA, the GUTF and any other legal 
and/or regulatory obligations such as conducting financial crime risk 

associate companies, affiliates, delegates, service providers, agents 
and any governing or regulatory authority, whether within or outside 
Malaysia (who may also subsequently process, transfer, release and 
disclose such information for any of the above mentioned purposes) 
on the basis that the recipients shall continue to maintain the 
confidentiality of information disclosed, as required by law, regulation 
or directive, or in relation to any legal action, or to any court, 
regulatory agency, government body or authority. 

 

 

The Trustee has appointed The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Ltd as custodian of both the local and foreign assets of 
the Fund. For quoted and unquoted local investments of the Fund, the 
assets are held through HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad and/or HSBC 
Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd. The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings Plc, 

comprehensive custody and clearing services cover traditional 
settlement processing and safekeeping as well as corporate related 
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ART is the Trustee of the Principal Titans Growth & Income Fund and 
Principal Malaysia Enhanced Opportunities Fund. ART was 
incorporated under the laws of Malaysia on 23 March 2007 and 
registered as a trust company under the Trust Companies Act 1949.  
 
ART is a subsidiary of Amanah Raya Berhad (ARB) which is wholly 
owned by the Government of Malaysia. ART took over the corporate 

than 50 years in trustee business. ART has been registered and 
approved by the SC to act as trustee to unit trust funds.  
 
9.4.1.  
 
ART has delegated its custodial function of the foreign investments 
to Citibank N.A, Singapore branch. Citibank N.A. in Singapore began 
providing securities service in the mid-
global custody product was launched in the early 
securities services business claim a global client base of premier 
banks, fund managers, broker dealers and insurance companies.  
 

delegate are as follows: 
▪ To act as sub-custodian for the selected cross-border investment 

of the fund(s) including the opening of cash and custody 
accounts and to hold in safekeeping the assets of the fund(s), 
such as equities, bonds and other assets. 

▪ To act as paying agent for selected cross-border investments 
which include trade settlement and fund transfer services. 

▪ To provide corporate action information or entitlements arising 
from the above underlying assets and to provide regular 
reporting on the activities of the invested portfolios. 

 
 
9.4.2. Material Litigation and Arbitration 

 
As at LPD, neither ART nor its delegates are engaged in any material 
litigation and arbitration, either as plaintiff or defendant, and the 
Trustee and its delegate are not aware of any proceedings, pending 
or threatened or of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings 
which might materially and adversely affect their financial position or 
business. 
 

services including cash and security reporting, income collection and 
corporate events processing. All investments are registered in the 
name of the Trustee or to the order of the Trustee. The custodian acts 
only in accordance with instructions from the Trustee. 

 
The Trustee shall be responsible for the acts and omissions of its 
delegate as though they were its own acts and omissions. 

 
However, the Trustee is not liable for the acts, omissions or failure of 
third party depository such as central securities depositories, or 
clearing and/or settlement systems and/or authorised depository 
institutions, where the law or regulation of the relevant jurisdiction 
requires the Trustee to deal or hold any asset of the Fund through 
such third parties. 
 

 
 

The Trustee is not engaged in any material litigation and arbitration, 
including those pending or threatened, and is not aware of any facts 
likely to give rise to any proceedings which might materially affect the 
business/financial position of the Trustee.   

 

 

The Trustee has given its willingness to assume the position as trustee 
of the Fund and all the obligations in accordance with the Deed, all 
relevant laws and rules of law. The Trustee shall be entitled to be 
indemnified out of the Fund against all losses, damages or expenses 
incurred by the Trustee in performing any of its duties or exercising 
any of its powers under the Deed. The right to indemnity shall not 
extend to loss occasioned by breach of trust, wilful default, 
negligence, fraud or failure to show the degree of care and diligence 
required of the Trustee having regard to the provisions of the Deed. 
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9.5. ABOUT MAYBANK TRUSTEES BERHAD 
 
MTB is the Trustee of the Principal Malaysia Opportunities Fund, 
Principal Small Cap Opportunities Fund, Principal Lifetime 
Balanced Fund, Principal Dynamic Enhanced Malaysia Income Fund 
and Principal Lifetime Enhanced Bond Fund with its registered office 
at 8th Floor, Menara Maybank, 100 Jalan Tun Perak, 50050 Kuala 
Lumpur. 
 
MTB was incorporated on 12 April 1963 and registered as a Trust 
Company under the Trust Companies Act 1949 on 11 November 
1963. It was one of the first local trust companies to provide trustee 
services with the objective of meeting the financial needs of both 
individual and corporate clients.  
 
MTB has acquired experience in the administration of unit trust funds/ 
schemes since 1991. 
 

all due diligence and vigilance in carrying out its functions and duties 
to safeguard the rights and interests of the Unit holders. The Trustee 
is  the legal owner of the assets in the Funds. The Trustee will exercise 
oversight functions over the operation and management of the Funds 
by the Manager to safeguard the interests of the Unit holders. 
 
9.5.1.  
 
MTB has delegated its custodian function to Malayan Banking Berhad. 
The custodian function is run under Maybank Securities Services 

Services provides a comprehensive end to end clearing and custody 
services for global and domestic equities and fixed income securities. 
MSS provides a complete suite of corporate outsourcing solutions 
with a proven track record in servicing international institutional 
clients: Sub Custodian for major Foreign Banks and Global 
Custodians. MSS also provides Global custody services in more than 
100 different markets via a special arrangement with their reputable 
partners. They have also consistently been awarded in the Global 
Custodian Awards for Excellence as well as other major publications. 
 

 
▪ Safekeep, reconcile and maintain assets holdings records of 

 
▪ Act as settlement agent for shares and monies to counterparties 
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▪ Act as agents for money market placement where applicable 
 

▪ 

through for corporate actions instructions from trustee;  
▪ Compile, prepare and submit holdings report to trustee and 

beneficial owners where relevant; and  
▪ Other ad-hoc payments for work done for the funds against 

 
 
MTB has also appointed Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad 

owned subsidiary and nominee company, Cartaban Nominees. The 
assets are automatically registered into the name of the respective 
Funds.  

 
SCBMB opened its first branch in 1875 and is one of the oldest banks 
in Malaysia with more than 140 years of history. SCBMB is a subsidiary 
of Standard Chartered PLC and the Bank was locally incorporated as 
Standard Chartered Bank Malaysia Berhad on 28 February 1984. 
SCBMB set-up its custody services in 1989 to support both domestic 
and foreign clients.  
 

 

• To act as sub-custodian for the selected cross-border 
investment of the funds including the opening of cash and 
custody accounts and to hold in safe keeping the assets of the 
funds such as equities, bonds and other assets.  

• To act as paying agent for the selected cross-border investment 
which include trade settlement and fund transfer services. 

• To provide corporate action information or entitlements arising 
from the above underlying assets and to provide regular 
reporting on the activities of the invested portfolios. 

 
Both custodians act only in accordance with instructions from the 
Trustee. 
 
9.5.2. Material Litigation and Arbitration 
 
As at 31 October 2022, save for the suit(s) mentioned herein below, 
the Trustee is not engaged in any material litigation as plaintiff or 
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defendant and the Trustee is not aware of any proceedings, pending 
or threatened or of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings 
which might materially and adversely affect its financial position or 
business. 
 
 

to settle its indebtedness to the Bondholders following the default of 
the said bonds in 2010 and cited the Trustee as one of 6 co-
defendants under Kuala Lumpur High Court Civil Suit No. D-22NCC-
1622-
Trustee is for the sum of MYR177,248,747.31 or any other sum that 
the Court deems fit. The other co-defendants are the holding 

Agent and the Reporting Accountant. The Trustee denied all 
allegations and claimed trial.  
 
The High Court had on 24 July 2017 delivered its judgement on the 

[i.e. Aldwich, Holding Company, CEO, Security Agent, Trustee and 
Reporting Accountant] are liable to the Bondholders for the sum of 
MYR
Company and CEO are 100% liable for the Judgement Sum; and (c)  
among Security Agent, Trustee and Reporting Accountant, liability is 
apportioned in the proportion of 50%, 30% and 20% of the 
Judgement Sum respectively. 
 
The High Court had on 5 October 2017 decided in respect of the 
outstanding matters arising from the Judgement that (a) the 
quantum of the Judgement Sum is maintained, and (b) interest is 
payable based on the reduced sum of MYR148,653,953.20 at the rate 
of 5% per annum from 1 November 2011 to the date of payment. 

 

the Court of Appeal.  
 
On 18 September 2019, the Court of Appeal dismissed the Appeals 
and affirmed the decision of the High Court and awarded further 
costs of MYR100,000.00 against the Trustee. On 16 October 2019, the 
Trustee had filed its Leave Motion to the Federal Court. The Leave 
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Motion was partially heard on 21 January 2021, 3 September 2021, 
and 16 February 2022. The Leave Motion was unanimously dismissed 
by the Federal Court. 
 

9.6. ABOUT PB TRUSTEE SERVICES BERHAD 
 
PBTSB is the Trustee of the Principal Lifetime Bond Fund. PBTSB was 
incorporated on 24 August 1968 and commenced its operations on 22 
January 1969, with its registered and business office at 17th Floor, 
Menara Public Bank, 146 Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur. PBTSB 
has an authorized share capital of MYR1,050,000 and a paid-up share 
capital of MYR525,000.   
 

40 years since its incorporation in 1968. It currently manages various 
types of funds in its capacity as trustee. These include private debt 
securities, writing of wills, management of estates, trusteeship for 
golf clubs, recreational clubs and time sharing schemes. PBTSB is also 
acting as a custodian in its capacity.  
 

 main function is to act as trustee and custodian of the assets 
of the Fund and to safeguard the interests of the Unit holders of the 
Fund. They shall: 
▪ act in accordance with the provisions of the Deed, the CMSA and 

the GUTF; 
▪ take into its custody the investments of the Fund and hold the 

investments in trust for the Unit holders; 
▪ ensure that the Manager operates and administers the Fund in 

accordance with the provisions of the Deed, the CMSA, the GUTF 
and acceptable business practice within the unit trust industry; 

▪ ensure that it is fully informed of the investment policies of the 
Fund and of any changes made thereto, and if it is of the opinion 
that the policies are not in the interests of the Unit holders, it shall 
instruct the Manager to take appropriate action as the Trustee 

purpose of giving such instructions to the Manager as the meeting 
thinks proper; 

▪ as soon as practicable notify the SC of any irregularity or an actual 
or anticipated material breach of the provisions of the Deed, the 

indicate that the interests of Unit holders are not being served; 
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▪ exercise due care, skill, diligence and vigilance in carrying out its 
functions and duties, in actively monitoring the administration of 
the Fund by the Manager and in safeguarding the interests of Unit 
holders; 

▪ maintain, or cause the Manager to maintain, proper accounting 
and other records in relation to those rights and interests, and of 
all transactions effected by the Manager on account of the Fund; 
and 

▪ cause those accounts to be audited at least annually by an 
approved company auditor appointed by the Trustee and send or 
cause those accounts to be sent to Unit holders within two (2) 
months of the relevant accounting period.  

 
9.6.1.  
 
PB Trustee Services Berhad has appointed CIMB Bank Berhad as 
custodian of the quoted and unquoted local investments of the Fund. 
CIMB Bank Berhad began providing a security services in the mid-

ment 
advisors/clients, managers of domestic and international portfolios, 
lending banks and international custodians in the movement and 

clearing services include settlement processing and safekeeping, 
corporate related services including cash and security reporting, 
income collection and corporate events processing. All investments 
are automatically registered in the name of the Fund. The custodian 
acts only in accordance with instructions from the Trustee. 
 
 
9.6.2. Material Litigation and Arbitration 

 
As at LPD, neither PBTSB nor its delegates are engaged in any 
material litigation and arbitration, either as plaintiff or defendant, and 
the Trustee and its delegate are not aware of any proceedings, 
pending or threatened or of any facts likely to give rise to any 
proceedings which might materially and adversely affect their 
financial position or business. 
 

9.7. ABOUT HSBC (MALAYSIA) TRUSTEE 
BERHAD 
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HSBCT is the Trustee for Principal KLCI-Linked Fund, Principal 
Greater Bay Fund, Principal Asia Dynamic Bond Fund, Principal 
China Direct Opportunities Fund, Principal US High Conviction Fund 
and Principal Asia Pacific Renewables Fund. HSBCT is a company 
incorporated in Malaysia since 1937 and registered as a trust 
company under the Trust Companies Act 1949, with its registered 
address at Level 19, Menara IQ, Lingkaran TRX, 55188 Tun Razak 
Exchange, Kuala Lumpur.  
 
Roles, Duties and Responsibilities of the Trustee 

of the Fund and to safeguard the interests of Unit holders of the 
Funds. In respect of moneys paid by an investor for the application of 

neys are received in 
the account of HSBCT for the Funds and in respect of withdrawal, 

amount to the Manager. 
 
HSBCT has in place anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism 
financing policies and procedures across the HSBC Group, which may 
exceed local regulations. Subject to any local regulations, HSBCT 
shall not be liable for any loss resulting from compliance of such 
policies, except in the case of negligence, wilful default or fraud of 
HSBCT. 
 
HSBCT is not liable for doing or failing to do any act for the purpose 
of complying with law, regulation or court orders.  
 
HSBCT shall be entitled to process, transfer, release and disclose from 
time to time any information relating to the Funds, Manager, 
investors/Unit holders for purposes of performing its duties and 
obligations in accordance to the Deed, Capital Markets and Services 
Act 2007, the GUTF and any other legal and/or regulatory obligations 

parent company, subsidiaries, associate company, affiliates, 
delegates, service providers and/or agents and any governing or 
regulatory authority, whether within or outside Malaysia (who may 
also subsequently process, transfer, release and disclose such 
information for any purpose) on the basis that the recipients shall 
continue to maintain the confidentiality of information disclosed; as 
required by law, regulation or directive, or in relation to any legal 
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action; or to any court, regulatory agency, government body or 
authority. 
 
9.7.1.  

 
HSBCT has appointed the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 
Corporation Ltd as the custodian of both the local and foreign assets 
of the Funds. For quoted and unquoted local investments of the 
Funds, the assets are held through their HSBC Bank Malaysia Berhad 
and/or HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd. The Hongkong and 
Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
HSBC Holdings Plc, the holding company of the HSBC Group. The 

traditional settlement processing and safekeeping as well as 
corporate related services including cash and security reporting, 
income collection and corporate events processing. All investments 
are registered in the name of HSBCT or to the order of HSBCT. The 
custodian acts only in accordance with instructions from HSBCT.  
 
HSBCT shall be responsible for the acts and omissions of its delegate 
as though they were its own acts and omissions. 
 
However, the Trustee is not liable for the acts, omissions or failure of 
any third party depository such as central securities depositories, or 
clearing and/or settlement systems and/or authorised depository 
institutions, where the law or regulation of the relevant jurisdiction 
requires HSBCT to deal or hold any asset of the Fund through such 
third parties. 
 
9.7.2. Material Litigation and Arbitration 
 
As at LPD, HSBCT is not engaged in any material litigation and 
arbitration, including those pending or threatened, and is not aware 
of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings which might 
materially affect the business/financial position of HSBCT and any of 
its delegates 
 

9.8. ABOUT UNIVERSAL TRUSTEE (MALAYSIA) 
BERHAD 
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UTMB is the trustee for Principal Malaysia Titans Fund, Principal 
Titans Income Plus Fund, Principal Lifetime Balanced Income Fund, 
Principal Asia Titans Fund and Principal China-India-Indonesia 
Opportunities Fund. UTMB was incorporated on 5 March 1974 under 
the Companies Act, 1965. UTMB has more than thirty years of 
experience in the unit trust industry. 
 
UTMB has more than thirty years of experience in the unit trust 
industry. 
 
9.8.1.  
 
UTMB has appointed Citibank Berhad as their delegate for local 
custody services. Citibank in Malaysia was established on 26 August 
1959 as the First National City Bank. It became the first American 
bank to be locally incorporated on 1 July 1994. It has 11 branches 
across West Malaysia and an offshore banking unit in Labuan. 
Citibank Berhad has been an active player in the securities clearing 
and sub-custody industry in Malaysia since 1985. It is one of the 
largest institutional trades clearing banks in the securities market. 
The custody operations unit is also ISO certified. 
 
UTMB has appointed Citibank, N.A., Singapore Branch as their 
delegate for global custody services. Citibank N.A. Singapore Branch 
was set up in 1902 and is today the largest foreign bank operating in 
the territory.  With a staff force of about 8,500, Citibank, N.A. 
Singapore Branch provides a wide array of banking and financial 
services to institutions, consumers and professional markets in the 
community. Citibank, N.A. in Singapore began providing Securities & 
Fund Services in the mid- erational global custody 

base of premier banks, fund managers, broker dealers and insurance 
companies.  
 
9.8.2. Material Litigation and Arbitration 

 
As at LPD, neither UTMB nor its delegates are engaged in any material 
litigation and arbitration, either as plaintiff or defendant, and the 
Trustee and its delegate are not aware of any proceedings, pending 
or threatened or of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings 
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which might materially and adversely affect their financial position or 
business. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


